
PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING – November 09, 2023       PAGE 1 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 
117 South Main Street, Monticello, Utah 84535. Commission Chambers 

November 09, 2023 at 6:00 PM 
 

AGENDA 

Google Meet: https://meet.google.com/yhf-uevu-tkq Or dial: 5028-229-(US) +1 442  PIN: 994 657 050 

GENERAL BUSINESS 

Welcome / Roll Call 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Approval of Minutes 

1. No Minutes to Approve 

PUBLIC COMMENT - Time reserved for public comment on items or issues not listed on the agenda. 

LEGISLATIVE ITEMS 

2. Consideration and Approval of a Temporary Conditional Use Permit Application for 78 East 

Markle, in Lasal, Zachary Feasby 

3. Consideration of a Approval of a Conditional Use Permit Allowing for a RV Park/Wedding 

Venue for 1515 Highway 46, Old La Sal, Timothy Lankford  

4. Consideration and Approval of a Conditional Use Permit for R22 East Radio Hill Road, 

Verizon Wireless Tower, Technology Associates EC 

5. Consideration and Determination of a Permitted Use in the Highway Commercial (HC) District 

for a Telecommunications Tower to be located at 4326 East Sunny Acres Lane, Tower 

Development.. 

BUILDING PERMIT(S) REVIEW 

6. October Building Permits 

ADJOURNMENT 

**In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, persons needing auxiliary communicative aids 

and services for this meeting should contact the San Juan County Clerk’s Office: 117 South Main, 

Monticello or telephone 435-587-3223, giving reasonable notice** 

1



 

 

STAFF REPORT 

MEETING DATE: November 9, 2023 

ITEM TITLE, PRESENTER: Consideration of a Temporary Conditional Use Permit Application for 78 

East Markle, in Lasal, Zachary Feasby 

RECOMMENDATION: Make a motion approving Conditional-Use Permit with the following 

conditions:  

Make a motion denying the Conditional-Use permit for the following 

reasons: (Statement of Substantial Evidence) 

 

SUMMARY 

The County has received a request for a Conditional Use Permit Application. The request is to allow for 

temporary housing in RV’s while construction is taking place on the main home located at 78 East 

Markle, in La Sal 

There are two sections in the San Juan County Zoning Ordinances that allow for temporary uses as 

follows: 

 
6-11 Temporary Permit 

A temporary use permit may be issued for any use listed as a conditional use for that zone for no 

longer than six (6) months and may be extended for an equivalent period with a maximum of three 

(3) extension 

 

11-2 Use Regulations 

(3) Temporary buildings for uses incidental to construction work, including living quarters for a guard or 

night watchman - such buildings must be removed upon completion or abandonment of the construction 

work [in MU-1, A-1, RR1, these are all conditional uses] 

 

Possible Conditions: 

 
 

- Must comply with any state or federal fire restrictions 

- Must comply with all building permit requirements 

- Must comply with San Juan County Health Department requirements and Utah State water system 

requirements. 

 

2

Item 2.



3

Item 2.



4

Item 2.



5

Item 2.



6

Item 2.



7

Item 2.



8

Item 2.



9

Item 2.



10

Item 2.



11

Item 2.



 

12

Item 2.



 

 

STAFF REPORT 

MEETING DATE: November 9, 2023 

ITEM TITLE, PRESENTER: Consideration of a Conditional Use Permit Allowing for a RV 

Park/Wedding Venue for 1515 Highway 46, Old La Sal, Timothy 

Lankford  

RECOMMENDATION: Make a motion recommending approval to the Board of San Juan County 

Commission for the Conditional Use Permit with the following conditions: 

(State each Condition as part of the motion) 

Make a motion denying the Conditional Use Permit due to the following 

reasons: (Statement of Findings for Substantial Evidence) 

 

SUMMARY 

In October 2021, the County received a Conditional Use Permit Application for Parcel 28S25E271210 

and 28S25E281201, Wild Sage Resort, located on 1515 Highway 46 in Old La Sal.  

The applicant is planning on utilizing existing uses as part of the resort and will be adding 12 RV sites. 

A Community Restroom. A 150’X50’ pond with a spring that can be utilized for fire mitigation. 

Establishment of an additional 75’x100’ pond. Included in the design is a pergola and a Barn-dominium.  

There are two properties with this site, but one parcel is almost unusable due to its size. The septic 

systems will all exist on one parcel with one septic system already in existence.  

Ordinance Sections: 

This property is located within the A-1 zone which has a use defined as the following: 

 

Private park or recreational grounds or private recreational camp or resort, including accessory or 

supporting dwellings or dwelling complexes and commercial service uses which are owned by or 

managed by the recreational facility to which it is accessor 

 

By definition, a Conditional Use is: A land use that, because of its unique characteristics or potential 

impact on the county, surrounding neighbors, or adjacent land uses, may not be compatible in some 

areas or may be compatible only if certain conditions are required that mitigate or eliminate the 

detrimental impacts.  

 

 

Possible Conditions may include: 

  

13

Item 3.



- Must coordinate with the Division of Drinking Water to avoid a public water system or the 

creation of a Public Water System and pass that off through the County Administrator 

- Must comply with any state or federal fire restrictions 

- Must comply with all building permit requirements 

- Must comply with San Juan County Health Department requirements and Utah State water 

system requirements. Including having an engineer design the appropriate septic systems for the 

uses. 

- Must comply with San Juan County business license requirements. 

 

HISTORY/PAST ACTION 

N/A  

14

Item 3.



15

Item 3.



16

Item 3.



by the Planning Commission. Incomplete applications may delay processing of the 
application and subsequent scheduling of public hearings. 

Meeting Dates: 

Who? 
When? 
Where? 

San Juan Planning and Zoning Commission 
2nd Thursday of each month at 7 :00 p.m. 
San Juan County Administration Building, Room 200 - Old 
Commission Chambers, 117 South Main Street, Monticello, Utah. 

Application Fee (non-refundable) 
?( Conditional Use Permit: See Fee Schedule 

Application Process: 
Step 1. Contact the Planning and Zoning Department Staff. Meet 

informally with a member of the Planning and Zoning Department 
staff to discuss your proposal and review the issues, procedures and 
fees associated with the application. 

Step 2. 

D 
D 

D 

D 
D 

Submit Application: For all conditional use permit applications 
please submit the following: 

Completed Conditional Use application form. 
Property Owner's Affidavit (i.e. a written statement made before a 
notary). For your convenience, and affidavit has been provided on the 
back of  the application form. 
I f  the property owner is to be represented by an "agent" during 
meetings with the County, please complete and submit the Agent 
Authorization form ( also provided on the back of the application 
form). 
Payment of  application fee. 
Three (3) copies of a legible site plan proposal. The site plan should 
include the following information: 
o Include the project name and exact street address, if possible.
o Accurate dimensions of the subject property, drawn to scale

(i.e. 1 "=10', l "=30', etc.) with north arrow and date of drawing.
Sheet size should be a minimum of  18"x24".

o Property lines, adjoining streets or roads, right-of-ways,
waterways, easements, etc. with dimensions.

17

Item 3.



llhri&.ol"n tl\llM '-"lllfl1Go1Jt -IQ.\ 
. ,  ..    11'!11'11 wh'lkv -,...,.....•'-"ft 
&r-,tt1n1a. UJ'°"  WfW'"JrH ,J..o, Mn Oarl'f . . . . . .  ,,.oWf"',.-.,.....,.. 
 . ,OJlll' CA 

SAN JUAN COUNTY, UTAH 
SECTION 28, T28S, R25E, SALT LAKE MERIDIAN, UTAH 

IH3IIID14D07U.tAe., 
tUilllt1#411'41120H 
Ont.••J 

· - l l ) -
1f'l1f1 l'ow.'l'Jl\'\,"'O 
 11t,or,w1..,f111uo 
 NilAG-lrwuw 

1f'>" MIIOOJJU""-
IOtl1I Ctlf'ltOJJNH) 

fM(M "'•t -c.-ik  

79.95 Chains 

nenumoo 1u2 At. 
41UtJ IW11'11l 20U 
Otl..,,.rd lllftlM lchlHI 
Dllnr11hlW!lttlml 

80.12 Chains 

tlHFU(J 
fk,ch• AOO fl 

T 

(OBJ 

ff I t  a .. I• It f 
,o " N f't .. 1t 11 • 
";';.;in:'• 

II,,_ 0 • 

t I t o . t o  I 

ii 
i  ..(?lilOIJ1tr.o.-c. 
0 ...... _

MlttlnDltta 

(O,J 
 1't1N. 
(IW)fl.NJXIOI tl141 

1h-,l,o 
, r  " 

,.,, 
• lfifrPJl,tttlUtM', 

 !  ! C! •  ;.   :: 
.,,,..,tut ,111,wou 
YI( 1,,,.,  lt1n1 U/1l'NU 

(OD) 
l•'1f..nt.."40) U,"1,c. 
(ll, 'YA}*tt111f 
8llftJLlilnCwri1y 

U l L  -
JIIUEHl400r,1'Pit 
mm1101111tt1n,, 
T11f10Y1ChH11111n1 

1i11 
l ll!JNMt 1 
r r.tllt}toU IHIPI 
OWlllafNnL.a-JrW 
Cl•....,._•WlrJ 

18

Item 3.



19

Item 3.



Points of Diversion - Abandoned: 
(1) S 2776 fl. W 420 ft. from NE corner, Sec 28 T 28S R 25E SLBM 

Well Diameter: 6 in. Depth: 200 to 400 ft. Year Drilled: Well Log: No Well Id#: 
Elevation: UTM: 660413.661, 4245036.862 (NAD83) 

Source/Cmnt: NEW: S2876 W 420 NE Sec 28 T28S R25E 

Water Uses: 
Water Uses - Group Number: 2198 
Water Use Types: 

Irrigation-Beneficial Use Amount: 0.25 acres Group-Total: 0.25 Period of Use: 04/01 to 1 0/31 
Stock Water-Beneficial Use Amount: 10 ELUs Group Total: 10 Period of Use: 01/01 to 12/31 
Domestlc-Beneflclal Use Amount: 1 EDUs Group Total: 1 Period of Use: 01/01 to 12/31 

Place or Use: North West North East South West South East Section 
NWINEISWISE NWINEISWISE NWINEISWISE NWINEISWISE Totals 

1sec 28 T 285 R 25E SLBM I I I I I 

Use Totals: 
Irrigation sole-supply total: 0.25 acres 

Stock Water sole-supply total: 10 EL Us 
Domestic sole-supply total: 1 EDUs 

Extensions 
Filed: 01/29/2008 
Advertising: 

Publication Began: Publication End: 
Protested: Not Protested Hearing Held: 

Approval: 

Ix 

SE Action: Annroved Action Date: 07/22/2008 

Wn10, RJghl 0.IJ1Uo lor 05-2.0 S 
Uteh Division or Water Rights 

I I I IX I I 
Group AcreaQe Total 

for a group total of: 0.25 acres 
for a group total of: 10 EL Us 
for a group total of: 1 EDUs 

Proof Due: 02/28/2013 

0.25 
0.25 

Newspaper: No Advertising Required 

Protest End Date: 

Memo Decision: No 

912712023 4:11 PM 
Pege 2 of 2 

20

Item 3.



Water Right Details for 05-2945 
Utah Division of Water Rights 9/27/2023 4:21 PM 

(WARNING: Water Rights makes NO claims as to the accuracy of this data.) 

Water Right: 05-2945 

Owners: 
Name: Linda Bohannon 

Address: PO Box 83 
Lasal Utah 84530 

Remarks: 

General: 

Application/Claim: A74561 

Interest: 

Type of Right: Application To Appropriate Source of Info.: Certincate 
Quantitv of Water: 1.73 ACFT 

Source: Underground Water Well 
County: San Juan 

Common Description: 4 miles East of LaSal 
Proposed Det. Book: 05- Map: 

Land Owned bv Aool.: Yes 

Dates: 
Filing: 

Filed: 10/25/2002 
Priority: 08/22/2019 Decree/Class: 

Mvertislng: 
Publication Began: 11/20/2002 Publication End: 11/27/2002 
Protest End Date: 12/17/2002 Protested: Not Protested 

!Approval: 
State Eng. Action: Approved Action Date: 02/26/2003 
Recon. Req. Date: Recon. Req Type: 

Certification: 
Proof Due Date: 02/28/2013 Extension Filed Date: 

Election or Proof: Proof Election/Proof Date: 08/22/2019 

Certificate: 

Status: Certificated 

Pub. Date: 
CountvTaxld#:28S25E287201 

Newspaper: The San Juan Record 

Hearing Held: 

Cert./WUC Date: 10/21/2019 Lapsed, Etc. Date: 02/28/2013 Lap. Ltr. Date: 03/15/2013 
Wells: 

Prov. Well Date: Most Recent Well Renovate/Replace Date: 08/22/2019 

Points of Diversion: 
Points of Diversion - Underground: 

(1) S 2776 fl. W 420 fl. from NE corner, Sec 28 T 28S R 25E SLBM 
Well Diameter: 6 in. 

Elevation: 
Source/Cmnt: 

Watur Right Dolnll• fot Q.5..20i15 
Utah Oivlslo11 of Water Rlghto 

Depth: 325 to ft. Year Drilled: 2004 Well Log: Yes Well Id#: 
UTM: 660413.661, 4245036.862 (NAD83) 

Ol27/W23 4:21 PM 
Page 1 af2 

21

Item 3.



General: 
Type of Right: Application To Appropriate Source of Info.: Certificate 

Quantity of Water: 1. 73 ACFT 
Source: Underground Water Well 
County: San Juan 

Common Description: 4 miles East of LaSal 
Proposed □et. Book: 05- Map: 

Land Owned bv Aool.: Yes 

Dates: 
Filing: 

Advertising: 

Filed: 10/25/2002 
Priority: 08/22/2019 

Publication Began: 11/20/2002 
Protest End Date: 12/17/2002 

lApproval: 
State Eng. Action: Approved 
Recon. Req. Date: 

Certification: 

Decree/Class: 

Publication End: 11/27/2002 
Protested: Not Protested 

Action Date: 02/26/2003 
Recon. Req Type: 

Extension Filed Date: 

Status: Certificated 

Pub. Date: 
Countv Tax Id#: 28S25E287201 

Newspaper: The San Juan Record 
Hearing Held: 

Proof Due Date: 02/28/2013 
Election or Proof: Proof 
Cert./WUC Date: 10/21/2019 

Election/Proof Date: 08/22/2019 
Lapsed, Etc. Date: 02/28/2013 Lap. Ltr. Date: 03/15/2013 

Wells: 
Prov. Well Date: Most Recent Well Renovate/Replace Date: 08/22/2019 

22

Item 3.



uomesuc-oene11(.;IaI u::;e /-\rrIuu11L. 1 c u u   \:JI UUfJ I Uldl.  I 

Place Of Use: North West North East 
NW NE SW SE NW NE SW 

1sec 28 T 285 R 25E SLBM 

Use Totals: 
Irrigation sole-supply total: 0.25 acres 

Stock Water sole-supply total: 10 EL Us 
Domestic sole-supply total: 1 EDUs 

Extensions 
Filed: 01/29/2008 
 dvertising: 

Publication Began: 
Protested: Not Protested 

Approval: 

Publication End: 
Hearing Held: 

SE 
X 

rt::1 IUU UI U t::. U I r u  I LV I LI v I 

South West South East Section 
NW NE SW SE NW NE SW SE Totals 

X 

Group Acreage Total : 

for a group total of: 0.25 acres 
for a group total of: 10 ELUs 
for a group total of: 1 EDUs 

Proof Due: 02/28/2013 

0.25 
0.25 

Newspaper: No Advertising Required 

Protest End Date: 

SE Action: Approved Action Date: 07/22/2008 Memo Decision: No 

23

Item 3.



 

 

STAFF REPORT 

MEETING DATE: November 9, 2023 

ITEM TITLE, PRESENTER: Consideration and Approval of a Conditional Use Permit for R22 East 

Radio Hill Road, Verizon Wireless Tower, Technology Associates EC 

RECOMMENDATION: Make a motion approving the Conditional Use using the Findings and 

Conditions after finding substantial evidence described in the Conditional 

Use Permit Document created by Staff   

Make a motion denying the Conditional Use based on findings of fact 

described Make a motion denying the Conditional Use Permit due to the 

following reasons: (Statement of Findings for Substantial Evidence)   

 

SUMMARY 

The County has received a request from Troy Benson, Agent for Verizon Wireless for the installation of 

a 150 foot tall lattice tower in the A-1 zone.  

The Zoning Ordinance allows for the following use as a Conditional Use in the A-1 Zone: radio and 

television transmitting stations or towers. Towers is not defined in the Ordinance for a specific purpose.  

 

Staff has worked with our Attorneys and established an entire Conditional Use Permit report for this 

project which includes possible Findings to discuss and potential Conditions to be approved. See the 

attached “Conditional Use Permit for Telecommunications Tower at R22 East Radio Road” for review.  

24

Item 4.



1 
 

Conditional Use Permit 

for Telecommunications Tower at R22 East Radio Road 

Background 

San Juan County received an application for approval of a 150-foot telecommunications 

tower at R22 East Radio Road. The applicant is Troy Benson representing Verizon Wireless1. The 

R22 East Radio Road property is owned by Jerry and Joey Holliday. 

 The proposed tower is in the A-1 Agricultural District.  

 The San Juan County land use ordinance authorizes the Planning Commission to review 

and approve a conditional use permit for any conditional use – identified either in the zoning 

district where the use is proposed or “elsewhere” in the County zoning code. “Radio and 

television transmitting stations or towers” are listed as conditional uses in the A-1 Agricultural 

District. The Planning Commission shall make findings supporting a recommendation for a CUP 

and adopt appropriate conditions. (See attached Appendix A San Juan County ordinances).  

Project Summary 

San Juan County requested the applicant provide specific information relating to the 

proposed telecommunications tower.  On 31 October 2023 the project applicant provided details 

of the project to San Juan County Chief Administrative Officer Mack McDonald. The following 

summarizes the tower project proposed for East Radio Road. Also summarized here are relevant 

County resources. 

The project is an unmanned communication facility consisting of antenna mounted to a 

new lattice tower with outdoor equipment and generator. 

The project’s 150-foot tower is intended to fill a communications gap between Blanding 

and Monticello. A radio engineer determined that the area requiring coverage was a search ring, 

with a radius of about one mile. The tower is located near the center of the search ring. 

Blanding City Power will provide power. 

The tower supports a priority objective of the 2018 San Juan County General Plan. The 

Plan identifies Broadband infrastructure as needed for economic development, for health care, 

and for schooling. 

The tower will enhance emergency services in the following ways: Sheriff and Fire 

responders use wireless services to respond to 911 calls, to residences through GPS systems, to 

utilize medical equipment, and to provide other critical emergency services; and with the rise in 

wireless households, wireless services allow citizens to place e911 calls. 

                                                           
1 Verizon Wireless was registered as a Utah corporation on 13 January 2023. CT Corporation System is the 

registered agent for Verizon Wireless and is located at 1108 E. South Union Avenue, Midvale, Utah. 

 

25

Item 4.



2 
 

The tower will enhance citizen health services in the following ways: with telemedicine 

starting to replace in-office patient visits, wireless services allow citizens and medical 

professionals to communicate; and telemedicine supports persons with disabilities obtain medical 

support where these individuals may not have prompt access to in-person health services. 

The tower will support online schooling and a remote work environment. Wireless 

broadband is becoming essential to secondary schools and higher education – which require 

students to use wireless services to participate in virtual classrooms. Employers have allowed 

employees to work remotely or have hybrid schedules from home. Wireless services enhance and 

strengthen education and employment in the areas served by the tower. 

The tower will support economic activity in San Juan County. Visitors and consumers can 

search online for restaurants, recreation, and sightseeing opportunities. Similarly, visitors and 

consumers use phone-equipped GPS and mapping to get them where they need to go. 

After zoning approval, the tower applicant will go through a federal regulatory screening 

process and will fully comply with all federal regulations. The screening process takes about six 

(6) months. Presently, the tower applicant is unaware of any impacts on endangered species, 

national historic sites, migratory birds, or Native American/Tribal lands.  

Once constructed and operational, a technician will visit the tower once a month for 

regular maintenance.  About every 2 or 3 years a team will be at the tower to upgrade the 

equipment and antenna on the tower. These visits will generate little noise and create little traffic 

or safety concerns. 

The tower will have site identification signs and signs required by the FCC and other 

government agencies. The tower applicant understands that no advertising or other signs will be 

displayed on the tower – without approval of San Juan County. 

The tower will have no climbing pegs and will be surrounded by a 6-foot chain-linked 

fence with barbed wire to prevent unauthorized access. Access ladders will only be on site during 

maintenance.  

The tower will not block or encroach on vehicle or pedestrian access. A path will lead to 

the tower and continue around the tower. No portion of the path will be obstructed. 

The tower will have no accessory buildings. The tower will be supported by two 

equipment cabinets (7’ 6” tall) and a diesel generator (7’ 3” tall) on a 6” thick concrete slab (14’ 

x 12’ 8”) with canopy covering the cabinets. 

The antenna and support structures will be grounded as required by the National 

Electrical Code. 

The San Juan County Code sets a maximum height for buildings in the A-1 District at 35 

feet. Consequently, the proposed tower of 150 feet will require a variance. 

 The proposed tower would be subject to certain building codes and related standards 

which have been adopted by San Juan County. 

26

Item 4.



3 
 

 The operation of the tower would require a County business license and be subject to 

regular inspections for compliance with County ordinances and the CUP conditions. 

 Prior to construction the applicant would be required to apply for and receive a building 

permit from San Juan County. 

  

Findings 

 The San Juan County Planning Commission makes the following findings relating to the 

proposed tower. 

1. The proposed tower will have a positive, beneficial impact on the economy security, 

safety, and welfare of San Juan County residents and businesses. Specifically, the 

proposed project will support and enhance emergency services, schooling, health care 

services, and remote employment.  

 

2. The proposed tower has unique characteristics which are appropriately addressed with 

conditions as part of a conditional use permit. 

 

3. The proposed tower furthers a priority objective of the 2018 San Juan County General 

Plan to increase Broadband capacity to promote economic development and enhance 

public health and education. 

 

4. The construction and operation of the tower will not be detrimental to the health, safety 

or general welfare of persons residing or working in the vicinity, or injurious to property 

or improvements in the vicinity. 

 

5. The construction and operation of the tower will comply with the intent, spirit, 

regulations and conditions specified in the County land use code for such use and the 

zoning district where the use is to be located, as well be harmonious with the neighboring 

uses in the zoning district. Additionally, the project will comply with all federal 

regulations which protect and conserve San Juan County resources. 

 

6. The proposed 150 feet height of the tower exceeds the maximum 35 feet in the San Juan 

County land use ordinance. Consequently, the tower will require a variance. 

Conditions 

a. Prior to construction, the applicant shall apply for and receive a San Juan County 

building permit. 

 

b. The applicant shall apply for, receive, and maintain a San Juan County business license 

and be subject to regular inspections associated with the business license – to include a 

review of compliance with the CUP conditions. 

27

Item 4.



4 
 

 

c. The construction and operation of the tower shall comply with the International Fire 

Code and the San Juan County Fire Policy – and be subject to inspection by fire 

authorities. 

 

d. The tower shall be operated in compliance with federal regulations. 

 

e. The tower shall not be used for outdoor advertising, signage, or similar uses without first 

obtaining permission from San Juan County. 

 

f. This permit shall be null and void if the tower is abandoned as a telecommunication 

facility or the tower is not maintained for 90 days. After abandonment or non-

maintenance, the tower shall be removed. 

 

g. Any neighbor or adjacent property owner or person reasonably expected to be at or near 

the facility during construction, maintenance, or other activity which has the potential to 

harm an individual shall be informed of the activity and provided with safety information, 

as appropriate. 

 

h. The facility shall be kept clean and free from rubbish, flammable waste material or other 

noxious or nuisance substances. 

 

i. The tower will require a variance from the San Juan County land use code which 

establishes a maximum height for structures at 35 feet. 

 

 

Conditional Use Permit approved on by the San Juan County Planning Commission. 

 

_________________________________    _______________  

Trent Shafer        Date 

Chairman, San Juan County Planning Commission 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

28

Item 4.



5 
 

Appendix A 

San Juan County Land Use Ordinances 

The following provisions in the San Juan County land usage ordinances are relevant to 

this application. 

- County Code § 150.001 (Adoption of Uniform Codes) and § 153.028 (Adoption of 

Building Codes). San Juan County adopts the International Building Code2 and related 

building standards.  

 

- County Code §153.002 (Purpose) states: “This chapter [Zoning] is designed and enacted 

for the purpose of promoting the health, safety, morals, convenience, order, prosperity 

and welfare of the present and future inhabitants of the county, including, among other 

things, the lessening of congestion in the streets or roads, securing safety from fire and 

other dangers, providing access to adequate light and air, classification of land uses and 

distribution of land development and utilization, protection of the tax base, securing 

economy in governmental expenditures, fostering agricultural and other industries, and 

the protection of both urban and non-urban development.” 

 

- The County Code includes certain definitions which are relevant to this application. § 

153.005 (Definitions). 

 

CONDITIONAL USE. A land use that, because of its unique characteristics or potential 

impact on the county, surrounding neighbors or adjacent land uses, may not be 

compatible in some areas or may be compatible only if certain conditions are required 

that mitigate or eliminate the detrimental impacts. 

 

STRUCTURE. Anything constructed or erected, which requires location on the ground or 

attached to something having a location on the ground. 

 

- County Code § 153.075 set a maximum height of structures at 35 feet. Since the proposed 

tower is 150’ a variance is required. 

 

- County Code § 153.006 (Building Permit Required; Application and Review) includes 

the following relevant to this application. 

 

                                                           
2 Included in the 2021 International Building Code is § 3108 (Telecommunication and Broadcast Towers). Section 

3108 includes several building construction requirements for telecommunication towers, including:  

seismic load standards; prohibitions against tower guy wires and other accessories crossing or encroaching on public 

streets, private property (where permission has not been obtained from the property owner), or above-ground electric 

utility lines; requirements for tower climbing and working facilities; and adoption of all EPA, OSHA, and FCC 

standards applicable to a tower and its location. 

 

A building standard referenced in § 3108 is Telecommunications Industry Association 222 (Standards for Towers 

and Antenna Supporting Structures). 

29

Item 4.



6 
 

o “The use of land or the construction or alteration, of any building or structure or 

any part thereof, as provided or as restricted in this chapter shall not be 

commenced, or proceeded with, except after the issuance of a written permit for 

the same by the Building Inspector3.” 

 

o “Design review for buildings and uses covered by conditional use permits or 

planned unit development approval shall be incorporated within such conditional 

use permit or planned unit development approval.” (Based on design review 

requirements for non-CUP projects in § 153.006, a design review of the subject 

tower may include the following: architectural and site development plans to 

scale, which shall show structure (tower) location, landscaping, prominent 

existing trees, ground treatment, fences, location and size of the adjacent streets, 

north arrow and property lines, existing grades and proposed new grades.) 

 

- The following sections from the San Juan County Zoning Code relate generally to 

conditional uses.  

 

o § 153.185 (Definition) “A Conditional Use is a land use that, because of its unique 

characteristics or potential impact on the county, surrounding neighbors or 

adjacent land uses, may not be compatible in some areas or may be compatible 

only if certain conditions are required that mitigate or eliminate the detrimental 

impacts. 

 

o § 153.186 (Permit Required). A conditional use permit shall be required for all 

uses listed as conditional uses in the district regulations where they are, or will be 

located, or if the use is specified as conditional use elsewhere in this chapter. 

 

o § 153.187 (No presumption of approval) The listing of a conditional use in any 

table of permitted and conditional uses found in § 153.071 of this chapter for each 

category of zoning district does not constitute an assurance or presumption that 

such conditional use will be approved. Rather, each proposed conditional use shall 

be evaluated on an individual basis, in relation to its compliance with the 

standards and conditions set forth in this chapter and with the standards for the 

district in which it is located, in order to determine whether the conditional use is 

appropriate at the particular location. 

 

o § 153.188 (Application).  A conditional use permit application shall be made to 

the Zoning Administrator as provided by this chapter. The Zoning Administrator 

                                                           
3 County Code § 153.023 (Building Inspector; Powers and Duties) states “It shall be the duty of the 

Building Inspector to inspect or cause to be inspected all buildings in course of construction or repair.” 

 

30

Item 4.



7 
 

shall submit the application to the Planning Commission; except that, the 

Planning Commission may authorize the Zoning Administrator to grant, attach 

conditions or deny conditional use permits, subject to such limitations or 

qualifications as are deemed necessary.  

 

o § 153.189 (Determination) (A) The Planning Commission, or upon authorization, 

the Zoning Administrator, shall approve a conditional use to be located within any 

district in which the particular conditional use is permitted by the use regulations 

of this chapter. In authorizing any conditional use, the Planning Commission shall 

impose such requirements and conditions as are necessary for the protection of 

adjacent properties and the public welfare. 

 

(B)   The Planning Commission shall not authorize a conditional use permit 

unless the evidence presented is such to establish: 

(1)   Such use will not, under the circumstances of the particular case, be 

detrimental to the health, safety or general welfare of persons residing or 

working in the vicinity, or injurious to property or improvements in the 

vicinity; and 

(2)   The proposed use will comply with intent, spirit, regulations and 

conditions specified in this chapter for such use and the zoning district where 

the use is to be located, as well as make the use harmonious with the 

neighboring uses in the zoning district. 

 

(C)   The Planning Commission shall itemize, describe or justify the conditions 

imposed on the use.” 

 

- The 2011 Zoning Code includes “radio and television communication towers” as 

conditional uses. In the table of uses for three zoning districts (A-1 Agricultural, RR-1 

Rural Residential, MU-1 Multiple Use) the following uses are listed as “conditional 

uses.” “Public use, quasi-public use, essential services, including private school, with a 

curriculum corresponding to a public school, church, dams and reservoirs, radio and 

television transmitting stations or towers, cemetery.” 

 

- The 2018 San Juan County General Plan emphasizes economic development throughout 

the County. The General Plan gives priority to the development of Broadband as an 

infrastructure need. The chapter on Economic Development (pages 21 – 30) identifies 

several goals to promote economic development. The “vision” for County Economic 

Development has the following components: Broadband, Transportation, Business 

Expansion and Retention, Diversification, and Celebration of History and Culture. The 

31

Item 4.



8 
 

first component, Broadband, is needed not only for economic development – but also for 

healthcare and education.4 

 

Other San Juan County Ordinances 

- County Code §§ 93.004 and 93.005 require that building permit applications and all 

constructed buildings comply with the County Fire Policy. 

 

- County Code Chapter 110 require businesses to obtain and maintain a business license. § 

110.010 authorizes inspections of properties which have or are required to obtain a 

County business license. 

 

                                                           
4 An important report on Broadband in rural communities was published by the United States Department of 

Agriculture. “Broadband Services for Rural America,” October 2021, USDA. See also a KUER story by Lexi Peery, 

dated 25 May 2022 titled “Utah taps into federal ‘Internet for All’ initiative to boost rural broadband.” 

32

Item 4.



Applying for a Conditional Use Permit in San Juan County 
 

The term "conditional use permit" refers to a land use which would not be 

permitted under normal regulations of a zoning district, however, the proposed use 

may be acceptable within the zoning district if development of the use complies 

with special conditions provided by the Planning Commission. Specified 

conditions associated with a conditional use permit (CUP) may only be amended 

by the Planning Commission. The conditional use permit is revocable by the 

County if any of the conditions are violated or not met with certain time frames. 

 

Overview: 

Conditional use permit applications are reviewed by the Planning Commission and 

San Juan County staff to determine compliance with the following county code: 

 

Chapter 6, 6-4. Determination 

 

The Planning Commission, or upon authorization, the Zoning Administrator, shall 

approve a conditional use to be located within any district in which the particular 

conditional use is permitted by the use regulations of this Ordinance.  In 

authorizing any conditional use the Planning Commission shall impose such 

requirements and conditions as are necessary for the protection of adjacent 

properties and the public welfare. The Planning Commission shall not authorize a 

conditional use permit unless the evidence presented is such to establish: 

 

(1) That such use will not, under the circumstances of the particular case, be 

 detrimental to the health, safety or general welfare of persons residing or 

 working in the vicinity, or injurious to property or improvements in the 

 vicinity; and  

(2) That the proposed use will comply with intent, spirit, regulations and 

 conditions specified in this Ordinance for such use and the zoning district 

 where the use is to be located, as well as make the use harmonious with the 

 neighboring uses in the zoning district. 

(3) The Planning Commission shall itemize, describe, or justify the conditions 

 imposed on the use. 

 

Submittal Deadline: 

Application for a conditional use permit must be submitted to the San Juan County 

Planning and Zoning Department, 117 S. Main Street, Monticello by 10:00 a.m. at 

least three (3) weeks prior to the intended date the application is to be considered 

33

Item 4.



by the Planning Commission. Incomplete applications may delay processing of the 

application and subsequent scheduling of public hearings. 

 

Meeting Dates: 

 

Who?  San Juan Planning and Zoning Commission 

When? 2nd Thursday of each month at 7:00 p.m. 

Where? San Juan County Administration Building, Room 200 - Old  

  Commission Chambers, 117 South Main Street, Monticello, Utah. 

 

Application Fee (non-refundable) 

 □ Conditional Use Permit:     See Fee Schedule 

 

Application Process: 

Step 1.   Contact the Planning and Zoning Department Staff.  Meet   

  informally with a member of the Planning and Zoning Department  

  staff to discuss your proposal and review the issues, procedures and  

  fees associated with the application. 

 

Step 2. Submit Application:  For all conditional use permit applications  

  please submit the following: 

 

 □ Completed Conditional Use application form. 

 □ Property Owner's Affidavit (i.e. a written statement made before a  

  notary).  For your convenience, and affidavit has been provided on the 

  back of the application form. 

 □ If the property owner is to be represented by an "agent" during   

  meetings with the County, please complete and submit the Agent  

  Authorization form (also provided on the back of the application  

  form). 

 □ Payment of application fee. 

 □ Three (3) copies of a legible site plan proposal.  The site plan should  

  include the following information: 

  □ Include the project name and exact street address, if possible. 

  □ Accurate dimensions of the subject property, drawn to scale  

   (i.e. 1"=10', 1"=30', etc.) with north arrow and date of drawing. 

   Sheet size should be a minimum of 18"x24". 

  □ Property lines, adjoining streets or roads, right-of-ways,   

   waterways, easements, etc. with dimensions. 

34

Item 4.



  □ Location and dimension of existing and proposed buildings,  

   entries and exits, driveways, parking areas, landscape areas,  

   sidewalks, retaining walls, fences, exterior lighting, etc. 

  □ Location of existing property features such as streets and roads,  

   canals, ditches waterways, hillsides, wetlands, flood plain, etc. 

 □ Three (3) copies of floor plans. Include both existing and proposed  

  floor plans.  Indicate the scale (i.e. 1/8"=1', 1/4"=1', etc.) used on the  

  plans. 

 □ Three (3) copies of building elevations. These must be dimensioned to 

  show an accurate representation of the proposed building. Provide a  

  summary of the type of building materials which will be used for all  

  structures.  Indicate the scale (i.e. 1/8"=1', 1/4"=1', etc.) used on the  

  elevation. 

 □ Submit (1) copy of reduced 8 1/2 x 11 inch copy of all development  

  plans.  
 

  *All plans submitted with the application will not be returned to the   

    applicant and are the property of San Juan County 

 

Step 3. Attend the Planning Commission Meeting. The applicant will be  

  sent a copy of the Planning Commission agenda and staff   

  recommendation in advance of the meeting date. Information on the  

  agenda will give the date, time and place of the meeting. The   

  applicant or an authorized representative must be in attendance at the  

  meeting.  If no applicant is present, the Planning Commission will  

  move on to the next agenda item.  It will be up to the applicant to  

  reschedule another heating date. The applicant should be prepared to  

  present the proposal in detail and answer questions from the Planning  

  Commission members and other interested parties. An application  

  may be "tabled" or "continued" if the Planning Commission needs  

  additional information or time to consider the application. Otherwise,  

  the Planning Commission will make a motion to approve or deny the  

  request. 

 

  Appeal of Planning Commission Decision: 

  Anyone aggrieved with a decision of the Planning Commission may  

  appeal the decision to the Board of County Commissioners.  The  

  appellant may be applicant, neighboring property owner, an effected  

  resident, or even the County itself. Appeals must be in writing and  

  received by the County Administrator within thirty (30) days of the  

35

Item 4.

troy.benson
Typewritten Text
N/A



  Planning Commission decision. Appeal requests must contain all  

  documents and must state the reason(s) for the appeal. Payment of a  

  fee is required at the time of filing. 

 

  Conditional Use Permit Issuance: 

  Following the approval of the conditional use permit by the Planning  

  Commission, the permit will be issued in a letter to the applicant. The  

  letter will state with specificity the conditions of the permit approval.  

  This document should be retained in the records of the property owner 

  or applicant. All conditions outlined in the permit must be maintained  

  in order for the permit to remain valid and in effect.  

 

  Expiration of Conditional Use Permit: 

  Approval of the conditional use permit application by the Planning  

  Commission will expire one (1) year after the date of approval unless  

  there has been substantial action on the CUP (i.e. obtained a building  

  permit) by the applicant. The Planning Commission may grant one  

  extension up to six (6) months, when it is deemed in the public   

  interest. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

36

Item 4.



SAN JUAN COUNTY CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT APPLICATION 

Type of Application (check all that apply): 

□ New Construction □ Land Use Change

□ Addition □ Appeal

Subject Property Location or Address: ______________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Parcel Identification  

Number: ______________________________________________________________________ 

Parcel Area: ____________________ Current Use: _______________________________ 

Floor Area: __________________ Zoning Classification: _______________________ 

Applicant 

Name: ________________________________________________________________________ 

Mailing  

Address: ______________________________________________________________________

City, State, 

ZIP: _________________________________________________________________________ 

Daytime Phone #: _________________________   Fax#: _______________________________ 

Email Address: _________________________________________________________________ 

Business Name (If applicable): ____________________________________________________ 

Property Owner's Name (If different): _______________________________________________ 

Property Owner's Mailing Address: _________________________________________________ 

City, State, ZIP: ________________________________________________________________ 

Daytime Phone #: _________________________    Fax#: _______________________________

Describe your request in detail (use additional page(s) if necessary: _______________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Authorized Signature: _________________________________ Date: ___________________ 

NW Sec 13, T36S, R22E. Radio Hill Road, Blanding, UT
84088

36S22E132400

81 Acres Outdoor Recreation

40' x 45 (1,800 sq. ft) 
VZW Site Area

A-1: Agricultural

Verizon Wireless (Agent: Troy Benson)

136 South Main Street, Suite 400

 Salt Lake City, UT 84101

(801) 608-7042

troy.benson@taec.net

Technology Associates EC. 

Jerry Holliday and Joey Holliday, husband and wife, as joint tenants

700 East Browns Canyon Road

Blanding, UT 84511

(435) 979-5351

Verizon Wireless 
communication facility. 150' tall lattice tower within a  40' x 45' site area. (See Zoning Narrative) 

9/15/23 

37

Item 4.



38

Item 4.



39

Item 4.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

September 15, 2023 
 

San Juan County Planning and Zoning  

                                    Re: Verizon Wireless Communication Facility – UT6 Bulldog  
 

Zoning Narrative 
 

To improve coverage and network capacity in the Blanding area, Verizon Wireless is proposing 
to construct a wireless communication facility off of Radio Hill Road. The facility will include a 
150’ tall lattice tower, (2) 7’-6” tall equipment cabinets and (1) 7’-3” tall backup diesel 
generator. The equipment cabinets and generator will be placed on a 12’-8” x 14’ x 6” thick 
concrete slab. A 10’ tall metal canopy will cover the equipment cabinets. The 40‘ x 45’ site area 
will be surrounded by a 6’ tall chain-link fence with barbed wire. At the 146’ tower level, 
Verizon will install 8’ tall antennas (4 per sector, 12 total), (12) remote radio heads and (2) 
overvolt protection boxes. A 6’ tall lightning rod will be attached to the top of the tower.   

 

 
 

Troy Benson 
Technology Associates EC INC. 
Project Manager | troy.benson@taec.net | 801-608-7042 
136 South Main Street, Suite 400 | Salt Lake City | UT 84101 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Salt Lake Office 
136 South Main Street, Suite 400  
Salt Lake City, UT 84101 www.taec.net 

40

Item 4.

mailto:troy.benson@taec.net
http://www.taec.net/


Salt Lake Office 
136 South Main Street, Suite 400  
Salt Lake , UT 84101  
www.taec.net 

 

 

October 31, 2023 
 

Mack McDonald 
117 South Main  
Monticello, UT 84535 

 
Re: UT6 Bulldog – Conditional Use Permit for a Wireless Communication Facility 
Verizon Site ID: UT6 Bulldog / Radio Hill road, Blanding, UT 84088 

 
 

Mack McDonald: 
 
Below are responses to the questions San Juan County has for the Conditional Use Permit 
application to construct a new Verizon Wireless communication facility.  

 
Currently, Verizon Wireless doesn’t have a signed Lease Agreement with the property owner. 
Verizon will sign a Lease Agreement with the property owner, once zoning approval is 
received and there is a high probability the project will be constructed. The property owner 
has signed a Right of Entry, which allows Verizon Wireless to access the property to complete 
their due diligence for the project. The property owner has also signed/notarized a Property 
Owner’s Affidavit and Agent Authorizations Letter, authorizing me to submit the Conditional 
Use Application to the County. All referenced documents are included in this response.  
 
The 150’ tall communication tower is intended to fill a coverage gap on Highway 191 between 
Blanding and Monticello.  
 
There are numerous reasons why the deployment of wireless facilities and maintenance of 
wireless service is vital: 
 

• Emergency Services:  Emergency service responders use wireless services to respond 
to 911 calls, to locate residences through GPS systems, to utilize medical equipment, 
and to provide other critical emergency responses.  In addition, wireless services are 
critical to allow citizens to place e-911 calls because of the rising number of all wireless 
households. 

41

Item 4.

http://www.taec.net/


Salt Lake Office 
136 South Main Street, Suite 400  
Salt Lake , UT 84101  
www.taec.net 

 

 

 
• Telemedicine:  Telemedicine has started to replace in-office patient visits. Wireless services allow 

both citizens and medical professionals to use telemedicine apps.  While these services became 
ubiquitous in the COVID-19 pandemic, they are also crucial for providing access to medical 
services to individuals who, for reasons of disability or disadvantage, may not be able to obtain 
prompt access to in-person health services.  A well-connected community is also a healthier 
community. 
 

• Online Schooling and Remote Work Environments:  Wireless broadband is the new essential 
school supply. Schools and higher education facilities that utilized and will continue to utilize 
remote learning, requiring students to use wireless services to engage and participate in their 
virtual classrooms.  Employers have allowed employees to continue to work remotely or hybrid 
schedules from home.  Online schooling and remote work environments require apps such as 
Zoom, Microsoft Teams, WebEx, Google Meet, and Classroom, which all rely on wireless services. 
Connectivity for both individuals and at home businesses is critical as the current global crisis has 
changed the way we live, work, and play.  The improved service provided by the facility to Verizon 
Wireless’s network will provide beneficial impacts to the residents, businesses, and future uses in 
the area. 

 
• Economic Opportunity.  With the ubiquity of mobile devices, consumers are ever more dependent 

on their ability to search online for restaurants, recreation, and sightseeing opportunities, and rely 
on phones equipped with GPS and mapping technology to get them where they want to go.   

 
There is not currently a known impact the proposed wireless communication facility would impose upon 
endangered species, migratory birds, national historic site, or Native American/Tribal Lands. Prior to 
construction of the site, the project will go through a Regulatory screening process to make sure any 
potential impacts are addressed. Verizon will comply with all applicable federal regulations. The Regulatory 
screening process takes around 6 months to complete and Verizon does not start the process until after 
zoning approval is received.  
 
For the site to achieve its coverage objective, a Verizon Wireless radio frequency engineer provided a search 
ring, with a radius close to one mile. The proposed site location is very close to the center of the search ring 
and is an excellent location for the site to meet Verizon’s coverage goal.  
 
The site will need to be visited by a technician approximately once per month, for routine site maintenance. 
A standard work truck will be needed for these visits. Roughly every 2 to 3 years Verizon will upgrade their 
equipment/antennas on the tower. This work will likely require a manlift or crane. The maintenance and 
upgrades the site will need will produce little noise and they will create little traffic or safety concerns.  
 

42

Item 4.

http://www.taec.net/


Salt Lake Office 
136 South Main Street, Suite 400  
Salt Lake , UT 84101  
www.taec.net 

 

 

Verizon will obtain all required licenses and permits from the necessary agencies, prior to beginning 
construction of the site. Currently, Verizon doesn’t have any permits or licenses to provide.  
Verizon Wireless understands that no commercial, advertising, or signage will be allowed on the tower – 
unless separately approved by San Juan County. The facility will only have a site identification sign and signs 
required by the FCC and other government entities.  
 
The lattice tower will not have any climbing pegs. Access ladders will only be on site during site maintenance. 
The tower will be surrounded by a 6’ tall chain-link fence with barbed wire to prevent unauthorized access.  
 
The tower will not encroach upon or block vehicular or pedestrian access. There is a path leading to the 
proposed site location and the path will continue around the facility. No portion of the path will be 
obstructed.  
 
A structural and mount analysis will be completed by an engineer licensed in the state of Utah, to 
demonstrate that the tower, antennas and antenna mounts will withstand the high wind forces common in 
San Juan County.  
 
The wireless communication facility will not have any accessory buildings. Verizon plans to install (2) 7’-6” tall 
equipment cabinets and a 7’-3” diesel generator, upon a 12’-8” x 14’ x 6” thick concrete slab, with a canopy 
covering the cabinets. 
 
The antenna and support structures will be grounded in accordance with the National Electrical Code.  
 
As to my knowledge, there will not be any federal or state funding supporting the project and the project will 
be funded entirely by Verizon Wireless.  

 

 Best, 
 

 
Troy Benson 
Technology Associates EC INC. 
Project Manager | troy.benson@taec.net | (801) 608-7042 
136 South Main Street, Suite 400 | Salt Lake | Utah 8410

43

Item 4.

http://www.taec.net/
mailto:troy.benson@taec.net


44

Item 4.



45

Item 4.



46

Item 4.



47

Item 4.



PARCEL INFO:
JERRY AND JOEY HOLLIDAY

36S22E132400

RA
DIO

 HI
LL

 RO
AD

 (O
LD

 HI
GH

WA
Y 1

63)

(N) VZW 40' X 45' (1800
SQ FT) LEASE AREA

BA
SI

S 
OF

 B
EA

RI
NG

SITE SURVEY SCALE: 1" = 50'-0"
SURV

1

SITE SURVEY

UT6 - BULLDOG
NW SEC 13, T36S, R22E

RADIO HILL ROAD
BLANDING, UT 84088
-- RAWLAND SITE --

PRELIMINARY

verizon

UTAH MARKET OFFICE

CORPORATE OFFICE

Technology Associates

CERTIFICATE OF SURVEY:

VERIZON WIRELESS LEASE SITE DESCRIPTION:

VERIZON WIRELESS ACCESS AND UTILITY EASEMENT DESCRIPTION:

NARRATIVE:

INFORMATION FOR THE CENTER
OF THE VZW LEASE AREA

48

Item 4.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DIRT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING 8'x10' BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
DIRT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIGHT-OF-WAY PER REF. 4C

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUY WIRE (TYP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
BREAK LINES

AutoCAD SHX Text
OVERHEAD POWER LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGE FLOW LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND UDOT RIGHT-OF-WAY MONUMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND UDOT RIGHT-OF-WAY MONUMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING POWER POLE AND SOURCE AND SOURCE SOURCE OF POWER FOR VZW FACILITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMMUNICATION MARKER

AutoCAD SHX Text
BARB WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGE OF ASPHALT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DIRT AREA, COVERED WITH TALL SAGEBRUSH TREES (TREES SHOWN APPROXIMATELY PER AERIAL PHOTO)

AutoCAD SHX Text
ITEM 13

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING 68.3' TALL GUYED TOWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
POWER METER

AutoCAD SHX Text
(N) VZW 12' WIDE ACCESS AND UTILITY EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
P.O.B.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
REV

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET TITLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
SURVEY PREPARED BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PHONE: 801-230-8968 EMAIL: JERRY@SUPERIOR-SURVEYING.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
9656 SOUTH PROSPERITY ROAD WEST JORDAN, UTAH 84088

AutoCAD SHX Text
136 SOUTH MAIN STREET, SUITE 400 SLC, UTAH 84101 3129 TIGER RUN COURT, SUITE #206 CARLSBAD, CALIFORNIA 92010

AutoCAD SHX Text
JERRY F

AutoCAD SHX Text
JERRY F

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
05.24.2023

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE SURVEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
I, JERRY FLETCHER, PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR, STATE OF UTAH, LICENSE NUMBER 6436064, CERTIFY THAT I HAVE SUPERVISED A SURVEY ON THE GROUND AS SHOWN HEREON: LOCATED IN THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 13, TOWNSHIP 36 SOUTH, RANGE 22 EAST, SALT LAKE BASE AND MERIDIAN, SAN JUAN COUNTY, STATE OF UTAH, AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: BEGINNING AT A POINT LOCATED SOUTH 00°18'36" WEST 979.75 FEET ALONG SECTION LINE AND WEST488.32 FEET FROM THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 13, TOWNSHIP 36 SOUTH, RANGE 22 EAST, SALT LAKE BASE AND MERIDIAN AND RUNNING THENCE SOUTH 23°03'27" WEST 45.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 66°56'33" WEST 40.00 FEET; THENCENORTH 23°03'27" EAST 45.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 66°56'33" EAST 40.00 FEET TO THE POINT OFBEGINNING. CONTAINS: 1800 SQ. FT. OR 0.041 ACRES, MORE OR LESS, (AS DESCRIBED). A 12 FOOT WIDE ACCESS AND UTILITY EASEMENT FOR THE PURPOSE OF INGRESS AND EGRESS, AND INSTALLING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES, BEING 6 FEET ON EACH SIDE OF THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED CENTERLINE: BEGINNING AT A POINT ON THE EAST LINE OF THE VERIZON WIRELESS LEASE AREA, SAID POINT BEING SOUTH 00°18'36" WEST 985.27 FEET ALONG SECTION LINE AND WEST 490.64 FEET FROM THENORTHEAST CORNER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 13, TOWNSHIP 36 SOUTH, RANGE 22 EAST, SALT LAKE BASE AND MERIDIAN AND RUNNING THENCE SOUTH 66°56'33" EAST 6.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 66°56'33" EAST 5.21 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 51°56'33" EAST43.11 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 06°56'33" EAST 14.16 FEET; THENCE RETRACING THE PREVIOUS THREE (3)COURSES; (1) THENCE NORTH 06°56'33" WEST 14.16 FEET; (2) THENCE NORTH 51°56'33" WEST 43.11FEET; (3) THENCE NORTH 66°56'33" WEST 5.21 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 23°03'27" WEST 47.79 FEET;THENCE NORTH 81°56'33" WEST 25.59 FEET; THENCE NORTH 62°55'36" WEST 26.34 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF RADIO HILL ROAD (OLD HIGHWAY 163) AND TERMINATING. CONTAINS: 0.045 ACRES, MORE OR LESS, (AS DESCRIBED). (1) THE PURPOSE OF THIS SURVEY IS TO LOCATE AND SURVEY A PROPOSED COMMUNICATIONS TOWER SITE. (2) THE BASIS OF BEARING USED FOR THIS SURVEY IS AS SHOWN ON THIS PLAT, FROM FOUND MONUMENTS AS LOCATED IN THE FIELD.    (M) = MEASURED BEARING OR DISTANCE.    (R)= RECORDED BEARING OR DISTANCE.    (CALC)= CALCULATED BEARING OR DISTANCE. (3) PARCEL LINES ARE SHOWN AS REFERENCE PER RECORD INFORMATION AND DOES NOT CONSTITUTE OR PURPORT TO BE A BOUNDARY SURVEY. (4) REFERENCE PLATS:    (A) BUREAU OF LAND MANAGEMENT, TOWNSHIP 36 SOUTH, RANGE 22 EAST, S.L.B. & M. DEPENDENT RESURVEY AND SUBDIVISION OF SECTION 12 & 13, DATED JUNE 16, 2017.    (B) SURVEY NO. 1037, RECORD OF SURVEY FOR JASON HOLLIDAY, DATED NOVEMBER 23, 2016.    (C) U.D.O.T. PROJECT AS-141(7) RIGHT-OF-WAY PLAN SHEET 13-16, DATED 1952. (5) SCHEDULE B NOTES PER STEWART TITLE OF UTAH, INC. COMMITMENT NO. 1947268, DATED FEBRUARY 16, 2023:    (A) ITEM 1,3,4,5,6,10,11, & 12 - ARE BLANKET EXCEPTIONS NOT SHOWN ON THIS PLAT.    (B) ITEM 2,7,8, & 9 - ARE NOT SURVEY MATTERS AND ARE NOT SHOWN ON THIS PLAT.    (C) ITEM 13 - NO RECORDED MEANS OF INGRESS OR EGRESS TO A PUBLIC ROAD, RADIO HILL ROAD, OLD HIGHWAY 163, RUNS THROUGH PARCEL PER REFERENCE PLAT 4C. ALSO SEE ITEM 18. (SHOWN ON PLAT)     (D) ITEM 14 - RESERVATION AND EXCEPTION IN UNITED STATES PATENT IN ENTRY NO. A-12860, AFFECTS THE NW   OF THE NW   OF SECTION 13, HOWEVER SITE IS IN THE SW   OF THE NW 1/4. 14 OF THE NW   OF SECTION 13, HOWEVER SITE IS IN THE SW   OF THE NW 1/4. 14 OF SECTION 13, HOWEVER SITE IS IN THE SW   OF THE NW 1/4. 14 OF THE NW 1/4. (NOT SHOWN ON PLAT)    (E) ITEM 15 - BLANDING IRRIGATION COMPANY EASEMENT TO USE IRRIGATION SYSTEM IN ENTRY NO. A1-230-44, T-12929, U-5525, Z-9, 1T-07952, DOES NOT DESCRIBE AN EXACT LOCATION. (NOT SHOWN ON PLAT)    (F) ITEM 16 - KUTA 50'X75' LEASE AREA IN ENTRY NO. T-11600, Y-7767, Y-7766, Y-7765, 1B-80, 1B-79, 1G-06773, 1G-06774, AND 069211, 50'X10' BUILDING LISTED IN DOCUMENTS LOCATED NORTH OF SITE AREA, EXACT LEASE AREA LOCATION NOT DESCRIBED. (NOT SHOWN ON PLAT)    (G) ITEM 17 - MINERAL ENERGY INC. MINING LEASE IN ENTRY NO. 1E-6345, COVERS ENTIRE PARCEL. THERE DOES NOT APPEAR TO BE ANY CURRENT MINING IN THE SITE AREA. (NOT SHOWN ON PLAT)    (H) ITEM 18 - UTAH DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION RIGHT-OF-WAY GRANT IN ENTRY NO. 1G-05895, GRANTS RIGHT-OF-WAY FOR THE REALIGNMENT OF HIGHWAY 163 FROM ORIGINAL LOCATION AS SHOWN ON REFERENCE PLAT 4C TO THE RECAPTURE WASH HIGHWAY UDOT PROJECT NO. F-050(5) SOUTH OF SITE AREA. (NOT SHOWN ON PLAT)     (I) ITEM 19 - LARRY J. WHITE OIL AND GAS LEASE LEASE IN ENTRY NO. 1I-05705, COVERS ENTIRE PARCEL. THERE DOES NOT APPEAR TO BE ANY CURRENT DRILLING IN THE SITE AREA. (NOT SHOWN ON PLAT)    (J) ITEM 20 - EASEMENT AND RIGHT-OF-WAY IN WARRANTY DEED ENTRY NO. 63512, REFERENCES ITEM 16 KUTV LEASE AND RESERVES SOME MINERAL RIGHTS, DEED IN ENTRY NO. 067912 AND 069027 REFERENCE LESS AND EXCEPTING PARCEL AND ACCESS ROAD. (NOT SHOWN ON PLAT)    (K) ITEM 21 - PER DOCUMENT IN ENTRY NO. 072597 THE PARENT PARCEL IS SUBJECT TO THE FARMLAND ASSESSMENT ACT OF 1969. SURVEY MATTERS FROM ABOVE REFERENCED TITLE REPORT HAVE BEEN REVIEWED AND SHOWN OR LISTED AS PROVIDED ON PLAT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATE PLANE COORDINATES - NAD 83 (FT) NORTHING=10210529.79, EASTING=2232393.48 GEODETIC COORDINATES - NAD 83 LATITUDE = N 37°39'34.68" LONGITUDE = W 109°27'17.46" GROUND ELEVATION - NAVD88 6354' A.M.S.L. STATE OF UTAH, SOUTH ZONE

AutoCAD SHX Text
05-24-23

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND ALUMINUM CAP MONUMENT NORTHEAST CORNER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 13, TOWNSHIP 36 SOUTH, RANGE 22 EAST, SALT LAKE BASE AND MERIDIAN (NORTHWEST   CORNER)116 CORNER)

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND ALUMINUM CAP MONUMENT SOUTHEAST CORNER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 13, TOWNSHIP 36 SOUTH, RANGE 22 EAST, SALT LAKE BASE AND MERIDIAN (CENTER WEST   CORNER)116 CORNER)



ASAC INFORMATION SHEET 91:003

INFORMATION REGARDING SURVEY DATA SUBMITTED TO THE FAA

FAA Order 8260.19c requires proponents of certain proposed construction (located beneath instrument procedures) provide
the FAA with a site survey and/or letter, from a licensed land surveyor, which certifies the site coordinates and the surface
elevation at the site.  On October 15, 1992, the FAA started using the North American Datum of 1983 (NAD-83), and
therefore all site coordinates should be based on NAD-83.  The FAA requires that the survey letter contain an accuracy
statement that meets accuracy tolerances required by the FAA.  The most requested tolerances are +/- 50 feet in the horizontal
and +/- 20 feet in the vertical (2-C).  When the site coordinates and/or site elevation can be certified to a greater accuracy than
requested by the FAA, please do so.

In order to avoid FAA processing delays, the original site survey or certifying letter should be attached to the 7460 when it is
filed at the FAA's regional office.  It must be signed and sealed by the licensed land surveyor having performed or supervised
the survey.

The FAA accuracy codes and a sample accuracy statement are listed below.

ACCURACY CODES:

HORIZONTAL
Code
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

Tolerance
+/- 15 ft
+/- 50 ft
+/- 100 ft
+/- 250 ft
+/- 500 ft
+/- 1000 ft
+/- 1/2 NM
+/- 1 NM
Unknown

VERTICAL
Code
A
B
C
D
E
F
G
H
I

Tolerance
+/- 3 ft
+/- 10 ft
+/- 20 ft
+/- 50 ft
+/- 125 ft
+/- 250 ft
+/- 500 ft
+/- 1000 ft
Unknown

Date: JULY 12, 2023

Re:  UT6 - BULLDOG
       NW 1/4 OF SECTION 13, TOWNSHIP 36 SOUTH, RANGE 22 EAST, SALT LAKE MERIDIAN

I certify that the latitude of N 37°39'34.68", and the longitude of W 109°27'17.46", are accurate to within 15 feet horizontally
and the site elevation of 6354 feet, AMSL (American Mean Sea Level), is accurate to within +/- 3 feet vertically. The
horizontal datum (coordinates) are in terms of the North American Datum of 1983 (NAD-83) and are expressed as degrees,
minutes and seconds, to the nearest (tenth/hundredth) of a second.  The vertical datum (heights) are in terms of the (NAVD88)
and are determined to the nearest foot.

Professional Licensed Land Surveyor:    ______________________________________
1-A FAA Letter                                             Jerry Fletcher, Utah LS no. 6436064 49

Item 4.

AutoCAD SHX Text
07-12-23



50

Item 4.



51

Item 4.



52

Item 4.



 

 

STAFF REPORT 

MEETING DATE: November 9, 2023 

ITEM TITLE, PRESENTER: Consideration and Determination of a Permitted Use in the Highway 

Commercial (HC) District for a Telecommunications Tower to be located 

at 4326 East Sunny Acres Lane, Tower Development.. 

RECOMMENDATION: Make a motion determining that this is a Permitted use in the Spanish 

Valley Highway Commercial (HC) District after finding substantial 

evidence described in the Document created by Staff   

Make a motion denying the Condi tional Use based on findings of fact 

described Make a motion denying the Conditional Use Permit due to the 

following reasons: (Statement of Findings for Substantial Evidence)   

 

SUMMARY 

The County has received a request from Tierney Rowe, Vice President Tower Development to consider 

a 125-foot Telecommunications Tower to be placed in Spanish Valley located in the Highway 

Commercial Zone close to Highway 191 and Sunny Acres on Parcel 26S22E3454126 behind an existing 

residential use property within this zone.  

 

The proposed tower is in the Spanish Valley Highway Commercial (HC) District.  

 

The Spanish Valley Development Ordinances (adopted 19 November 2019) established the Highway 

Commercial (HC) District where the proposed tower is located. Chapter 6: Spanish Valley Highway 

Commercial (HC) District governs land uses in the HC District. Chapter 6 includes a list of “typical 

permitted uses.” A telecommunications tower is not listed among the HC District typical permitted uses. 

However, Chapter 6 states: “The list is not exclusive. Any use not specifically listed but determined by 

the Planning Commission to be similar in purpose, intent or use shall be permitted.” 

 

Staff has worked with our Attorneys and established a permitted use report for this project which 

includes possible Findings to discuss. See the attached “Permitted Use in Spanish Valley Highway 

Commercial (HC) District for Telecommunications Tower at 4326 East Sunny Acres Lane, Spanish 

Valley” for review.  

53

Item 5.



54

Item 5.



55

Item 5.



56

Item 5.



 

INFRA TOWERS, LLC  
1800 Diagonal Road • Suite 600 • Alexandria, VA 22314  • (571) 366-1720 

 

November 2, 2023 
 
San Juan County 
Attn: Mack McDonald 
117 South Main 
Monticello, UT 84535 
 
Re: Proposed Telecommunications Tower – UT109 Spanish Valley  
 
Dear Mr. McDonald: 
 
Infra Towers, LLC (“Infra”) develops, owns, and operates wireless infrastructure facilities. Verizon Wireless (“Verizon”) is 
a wireless service provider working to improve coverage in and around Spanish Valley. These improvements target areas 
with significant gaps in service. Infra and Verizon are working together to build wireless facilities that will provide 
coverage solutions to currently underserved areas. 
 
Due to growing reliance on wireless communications and increased data demand, wireless infrastructure has become 
essential to providing reliable service. As part of Infra’s efforts to facilitate coverage solutions in Spanish Valley for 
Verizon and other wireless service providers, construction of a 125-foot monopole (125-foot monopole with 5-foot 
lightning rod) on parcel 26S22E354204, is proposed. The proposed telecommunications tower and facility will fill a 
significant existing gap in service.  
 
Pursuant to your request, this letter addresses questions posed by the County for the Conditional Use Permit required for 
the proposed tower and facility. Infra’s responses are detailed below and supporting documents are enclosed. 
 

1. Provide the lease agreement between the tower owner/operator and the landowner.  
 
Enclosed.  
 

2. San Juan County has adopted the International Building Code and related construction standards. Will the 
construction of the tower comply with the National Electrical Code and International Building Code, including 
Section 3108? That ICB section refers to the Telecommunications Industry Association 222 (Standards for Tower 
and Antenna Supporting Structures ). Does the applicant intend to comply with TIA 222?  
 
As noted on T-1 of the submitted construction drawings, under the section Code Compliance, Infra Towers, LLC 
will perform work in accordance with all current editions of relevant codes for local, state, and federal authorities. 
These include the latest editions of the International Building Code, National Electric Code, and ANSI/TIA/EIA-222. 
 

3. Provide San Juan County your analysis of the gap in coverage which will be addressed by the proposed 
telecommunications tower. 
 

57

Item 5.



 

INFRA TOWERS, LLC  
1800 Diagonal Road • Suite 600 • Alexandria, VA 22314  • (571) 366-1720 

 

Enclosed. The propagation analysis provided by TeleMtn Engineering indicates the gap in service in the vicinity of 
the proposed site. The analysis also details that none of the existing towers within 7 miles of the proposed site 
can resolve the existing gap in service to any significant degree. Therefore, the proposed tower is necessary to 
provide the needed service. 
 

4. Explain how the project will enhance commercial development in San Juan County, and benefit health care and 
education. If known, how might County fire and law enforcement services be enhanced? How might disaster 
response be benefited? 

 
More than 71.7% of American homes no longer use traditional landline telephone service and instead choose to 
be wireless only.1 In Utah, 72.8% of homes choose to be wireless-only households.2  
 
For residents, enhanced indoor coverage will allow for greater capabilities for remote work, connection to digital 
educational platforms for students and teachers, streaming entertainment, accessibility to telehealth providers 
and emergency responders, etc. 
 
For healthcare providers, reliable wireless service allows them to offer telehealth services and provides clinicians 
with access to continuous, real-time information and analysis. This improves their ability to optimize decision-
making, improves patient outcomes, and reduces costs. 
 
In terms of economic development, digital connectivity has been shown to increase productivity and innovation 
in firms and workers, allowing them access to internet-based technologies and allowing buyers/sellers to drive e-
commerce by creating access to more consumers. 
 
Finally, all wireless service providers give E-911 calls priority over any public demand calls, and a fast, reliable 
connection reduces emergency response time and allows for better caller location accuracy. This is imperative as 
the number of wireless only households continues to grow. 
 

5. Federal law requires consultation in cases where proposed towers may impact endangered species, migratory 
birds, national historic sites, or impact Native American/Tribal lands. Does this project affect or involve any of these 
interests? If so, what actions have been taken (or will be taken) to comply with federal law or regulation? Provide 
all analysis – you have prepared -  to determine which federal regulations may apply to the proposed tower and 
any regulation which the applicant determined requires notification or compliance. Which federal regulations does 
the applicant anticipate will be applicable to the proposed tower? Explain how the applicant will comply with the 
applicable federal regulations.  

 

 
1 “Wireless Substitution: Early Release of Estimates from the National Health Interview Survey, July – December 2022,” U.S. DHIS, 
CDC National Center for Health Statistics. 
2 CDC Wireless Substitution: State-Level Estimates from the National Health Interview Survey (Released December 2022) 

58

Item 5.



 

INFRA TOWERS, LLC  
1800 Diagonal Road • Suite 600 • Alexandria, VA 22314  • (571) 366-1720 

 

Infra Towers, LLC will comply with all local, state, and federal laws governing wireless communication facilities. An 
airspace analysis was conducted and provided that concludes no additional consultation is necessary with the FAA 
or FCC for the proposed tower. 
 
In addition, all new wireless communication facilities are required to go through the National Environmental Policy 
Act screening, prior to construction, to determine whether the proposed action (construction) will have a 
significant environmental effect. The screening reviews impacts to wilderness areas, wildlife preserves, 
endangered species or designated critical habitats, historic places, Indian religious sites, floodplains, and wetlands.  
 
The screening process takes, on average, 120 days. While we have initiated screening through our environmental 
consultants, the report is not yet complete. Infra Towers, LLC will not start construction of the proposed tower 
without a completed NEPA report indicating the facility will not result in a significant environmental effect.  
 

6. If available, provide engineering or other studies/analysis which support the requested height and location of the 
proposed tower. 
 
Enclosed. Please refer to the cover letter and report completed by TeleMtn Engineering. 
 
 

7. Describe the anticipated maintenance needs for the facility, including frequency of service, personnel, equipment 
needs, and traffic noise or safety impacts of maintenance activity. 
 
Preventative Maintenance – Traffic will consist of wireless technician maintenance personnel visiting the site 
approximately twice per month. This work is performed on the ground and technicians typically drive a truck or 
SUV to carry their maintenance measuring equipment.   
 
Antenna/Feedline Repairs – If ground measurements indicate an antenna or feedline coaxial cable fault, which 
happens infrequently, a boom truck may be required to facilitate technician access to the antennas or cables. 
 
The ground space will be maintained by Infra Towers, LLC, as frequently as needed, to keep it clear of weeds and 
easily accessible by maintenance technicians. There will be no distinguishable impact to existing traffic patterns 
or infrastructure, noise levels, or safety impacts created by the periodic maintenance anticipated for the proposed 
tower and facility.  
 

8. Provide copies of all licenses and permits required by other agencies with jurisdiction over the design, construction, 
location, and operation of the antenna.  
 
The antenna manufacturers are required to provide the wireless carriers with certification of FCC compliance 
related to radio frequency emissions. Typically, this is in the form of a written statement by the manufacturer. 
Verizon Wireless has not finalized their equipment configuration for this site, but once complete, they can provide 
certification from the relevant manufacturers and FCC licenses for the frequencies deployed.  

59

Item 5.



 

INFRA TOWERS, LLC  
1800 Diagonal Road • Suite 600 • Alexandria, VA 22314  • (571) 366-1720 

 

 
Excluding the federal regulatory processes as outlined in question #5, relevant permits approving design and 
construction will be issued by San Juan County. 
 

9. Does the applicant understand and accept that no commercial, advertising, or signage will be allowed on the tower 
– unless separately approved by San Juan County? 
 
Yes, though we do intend to install site identification and safety signage. Sheet C-11 of the provided construction 
drawings details the signage proposed and I’ve enclosed representation of standard signage placement. 
 

10. Explain how climbing pegs or access ladders will be removed from the lower portions of the tower.   
 
We specify to the tower manufacturer the height at which we want the climbing pegs to start. 
 

11. Is it anticipated the tower will encroach upon or block vehicular access? 
 
No; the proposed tower is in the rear of the parent parcel. Infra Towers, LLC has a non-exclusive 20’ wide 
access/utility easement which will accommodate ingress/egress to the proposed tower and facility. 
 

12. Explain how the antennas will be mounted with such standards they and the tower can easily withstand the high 
wind forces common in Spanish Valley. 

 
Tower and antenna mount design are governed by the EIA/TIA-222 structural standards for steel antenna towers 
and antenna supporting structures. The site location determines the required design wind speeds, structure class, 
exposure, and topographical categories.  
 
Designs for both the tower and mounts are certified by structural engineers to meet structural standards specific 
to the region. 

 
13. Will there be accessory buildings?  

 
In this region, wireless carriers typically install their equipment on concrete pads, within our lease area. Please 
see sheet C-6B in the construction drawings for Verizon equipment detail. 

 
14. Will the antenna and support structures be grounded in accordance with the National Electrical Code? 

 
Yes, our statement of compliance is noted on page T-1 of the construction drawings and the proposed grounding 
detail is shown on pages G-1 to G-5. 

 
 
 

60

Item 5.



 

INFRA TOWERS, LLC  
1800 Diagonal Road • Suite 600 • Alexandria, VA 22314  • (571) 366-1720 

 

15. Will there be federal or state funding to support this project? 
 
No. 
 

16. Provide any needs assessment, planning documents, or preliminary analysis associated with the project.  
 
At this time, the relevant documents have been provided or are enclosed. As development progresses, additional 
documents will be produced that will be pertinent to construction and the building permit (geotechnical report, 
structural drawings for the tower and foundation, etc.). 

 
Infra Towers, LLC will affirmatively protect public health, safety, and welfare by providing wireless services to a currently 
underserved area, positively impacting area residents, businesses, first responders, and anyone seeking to access this 
technology from roadways or public spaces in the area. 

 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Tierney Rowe 
Vice President Tower Development 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Enclosures 
  

61

Item 5.



Infra Towers Option and Ground Lease: UT109 

SITE NO.:  UT109 
SITE NAME: Spanish Valley 
LESSOR: Kolleen Conger 

 OPTION AND GROUND LEASE AGREEMENT 

THIS OPTION AND GROUND LEASE AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into as of this fourteenth (14th) 
day of April, 2023 (the “Effective Date”) by and between KOLLEEN CONGER, an individual (“LESSOR”) and INFRA TOWERS, 
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, (“LESSEE”). LESSOR and LESSEE are individually referred to herein as a “Party” and 
collectively as the “Parties.”  

Recitals 

A. WHEREAS, LESSOR is the owner of certain real property located at 4326 Sunny Acres Lane, Moab, San Juan County, State of
Utah bearing Tax Parcel ID 26S22E354204, a legal description of which is set forth in Exhibit “A” hereto (the “Property”); and

B. WHEREAS, LESSEE desires to lease certain ground space on the Property for the placement of LESSEE’s equipment, building(s)
and tower(s) for the purpose of constructing, establishing, and maintaining a radio transmission tower facility for LESSEE’s use and
that of its subtenants, licensees and customers (collectively, “Customers”), which facility includes tower(s), building(s), radio
transmitting and receiving antennas, communications equipment, and related cables, wires, conduits, air conditioning equipment and
other appurtenances (the “Telecommunications Facilities”); and

C. WHEREAS, LESSOR understands and accepts that LESSEE’s primary business is the leasing, subleasing, and licensing portions of
the Telecommunications Facilities to its Customers.

Agreement 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing premises, the mutual covenants and promises contained herein and 
other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, LESSOR and LESSEE agree as 
follows. 

1. Option to Lease.  (a) In consideration of the payment o (the "Option
Fee") by LESSEE to LESSOR, LESSOR hereby grants to LESSEE an option to lease the Leased Premises (as defined in Section 2
below), on the terms and conditions set forth herein (the "Option").  The Option shall be for a term of twelve (12) months, commencing
upon the date of mutual execution of this Agreement and ending twelve (12) months from such date (the "Initial Option Period").
LESSEE shall have the right to extend the Option for two (2) additional twelve (12) month periods (each, an “Extension Period”) by
giving written notice to LESSOR prior to the end of the then-current Option Period, which notice shall be accompanied by an additional
option fee payment of  (the “Additional Option Fee”). As used herein,
“Option Period” means the Initial Option Period and any applicable Extension Period(s).

(b) During the Option Period and any applicable extension thereof, LESSEE may exercise the Option by so notifying LESSOR
in writing. 

(c) The provisions of Sections 3(b) and 3(c) of this Agreement shall apply with equal force during the Option Period and, to
the extent that LESSEE exercises the Option, the Term of this Agreement. 

2. Premises.  Subject to the following terms and conditions, LESSOR leases to LESSEE and LESSEE leases from LESSOR certain
ground space located on the Property sufficient for the construction, operation and maintenance of LESSEE’s Telecommunications
Facilities, together with all necessary easements for access, egress and utilities, as generally described in this Agreement (the “Leased
Premises”) and depicted on the site plan/drawing attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit “B” (the “Site Plan”).  The Leased
Premises is comprised of approximately Two Thousand Five Hundred (2,500) square feet of ground space. If, as a result of the conditions
placed upon the issuance of the Governmental Approvals (as defined in Section 3(b) below) required for the construction and/or
operation of the Telecommunications Facilities, it is necessary to modify the dimension and/or location of the Leased Premises and/or
the configuration of the Site Plan (the “Leased Premises/Site Plan Changes”), LESSEE shall promptly so notify LESSOR in writing and
the Parties will promptly execute an amendment to this Agreement to reflect the Leased Premises/Site Plan Changes.

REDACTED

62

Item 5.



63

Item 5.



Infra Towers Option and Ground Lease: UT109 

 

6.  Interference.  Subject to LESSEE’s rights under this Agreement including, without limitation, non-interference, LESSEE shall not 
use the Leased Premises in any way which interferes with the use of the Property by LESSOR or its lessees or licensees with rights in 
the Property prior in time to LESSEE’s initial use thereof as a telecommunications facility. LESSOR shall not use, nor shall LESSOR 
permit its tenants, licensees, employees, invitees or agents to use, any portion of the Property in any way that interferes with the 
operations of LESSEE. Any interference prohibited by this paragraph shall be deemed to constitute a material breach of this Agreement, 
and the offending party shall, upon written notice from the other, promptly cause such interference to be terminated.  In the event that 
any such interference is not so terminated, the injured party shall have the right, in addition to any other rights that it may have at law 
or in equity, to bring a court action to enjoin such interference or to terminate this Agreement immediately upon written notice to the 
other party.  
 
7.  Construction of Improvements.  (a) From time to time during the Term hereof, LESSEE shall have the right, in its sole judgment 
and at its sole cost and expense, to construct, install, operate, maintain, replace, remove, modify, add to, upgrade, rebuild, and/or relocate 
any or all of the Telecommunications Facilities.  Notwithstanding the fact that certain such equipment and appurtenances that are a part 
of the Telecommunications Facilities may be classified as fixtures under applicable law, the parties agree and acknowledge that all such 
equipment and appurtenances are, and shall at all times remain, the sole property of LESSEE or its Customers, as the case may be, and 
that LESSEE shall have the right, but not the obligation, to remove any or all of the same during the Term of this Agreement and/or at 
the expiration or earlier termination hereof.   
 

(b) The Telecommunication Facilities shall be initially configured as generally set forth in the Site Plan.  LESSEE shall have 
the right to modify, replace, add to, upgrade, rebuild, and/or relocate the Telecommunication Facilities at any time during the Term.  

 
(c) LESSEE shall be solely responsible for the operation, maintenance, repair of, and the insurance for, the Telecommunications 

Facilities.     
 

8.  Access.  (a) As partial consideration for the Rent paid by LESSEE pursuant to this Agreement, LESSEE shall have, throughout the 
Term hereof, the right to access the Leased Premises over and across the Property twenty-four (24) hours per day, seven (7) days a week 
for the purpose of ingress, egress, operation, maintenance, replacement, and repair of the Telecommunications Facilities (the “Access 
Rights”). The Access Rights granted herein (i) include the nonexclusive right to enter the Property from the nearest public street and 
driveway, parking rights, and (ii) extend to LESSEE, its Customers, their contractors, subcontractors, equipment and service providers, 
governmental agencies of appropriate jurisdiction, and the duly-authorized employees, inspectors, representatives, and agents of each 
of them.   
 
 (b) In addition to the Access Rights set forth in the preceding paragraph, during the period that the Telecommunications 
Facilities are being constructed, LESSOR grants to LESSEE and its Customers the right to use such portions of the Property and the 
Adjacent Property as are reasonably required for the construction and installation of the Telecommunications Facilities, including, but 
not necessarily limited to, (i) the right of ingress to and egress from the Property and, to the extent reasonably required, the Adjacent 

64

Item 5.



Infra Towers Option and Ground Lease: UT109 

 

Property for construction machinery and related equipment, and (ii) the right to use such portions of the Property and/or Adjacent 
Property as are reasonably necessary for the storage of construction materials and equipment. As used herein, “Adjacent Property” 
means other real property owned by LESSOR that is contiguous to, surrounds, or in the immediate vicinity of the Property. 
 
9.  Utilities.  (a) LESSOR hereby grants to LESSEE, at LESSEE’s sole cost and expense, the right to install, and, to the extent applicable, 
improve, upgrade, and modify utilities at the Leased Premises (including, without limitation, telephone service, telecommunications 
lines (including, fiber) and electricity).  LESSEE shall, to the extent reasonably practicable, install separate meters or sub-meters, as the 
case may be, for utilities used in the operation of the Telecommunications Facilities on the Leased Premises.  
 

(b) As partial consideration for the Rent paid by LESSEE under this Agreement, LESSOR hereby grants to LESSEE and the 
servicing utility companies a nonexclusive right of way over and across the Property as necessary for the construction, installation, 
running, servicing and maintenance of electrical power and other utilities necessary to serve the Telecommunication Facilities. Upon 
LESSEE’s request, LESSOR agrees to promptly execute any and all documents necessary to evidence the rights granted to LESSEE 
pursuant to this paragraph including, without limitation, right-of-way and easement documents, and further grants to LESSEE an 
irrevocable power of attorney to execute, on LESSOR’s behalf, any and all such documents. 

 
10.  Default and Termination.  (a) In addition to other events or circumstances permitting the termination of this Agreement, this 
Agreement may be terminated, without any penalty or further liability, as follows: (i) by either party, upon a breach or default of any 
covenant or term hereof by the other party, which breach or default is not cured within thirty (30) days of the breaching party’s receipt 
of written notice thereof from the non-breaching party; provided, however, that if efforts to cure such breach are commenced within 
such thirty (30) day period and are thereafter diligently prosecuted to completion, such period shall be extended for a period of time not 
to exceed six (6) months, and further provided that the cure period for any monetary default shall be thirty (30) days from the defaulting 
party’s receipt of the other party’s written notice of payment delinquency; (ii) by LESSEE, upon thirty (30) days prior written notice to 
LESSOR, in the event that the Leased Premises become technologically unsuitable, in LESSEE’s opinion, for LESSEE’s 
Telecommunications Facilities for reasons including, but not limited to, unacceptable radio signal interference and any addition, 
alteration, or new construction on, adjacent to, or in the vicinity of the Leased Premises and/or the Property that blocks, either partially 
or totally, transmission or receiving paths; (iii) by LESSEE, upon thirty (30) days prior written notice to LESSOR, in the event that any 
Governmental Approval that LESSEE considers to be necessary or convenient for the construction, operation, maintenance, 
reconstruction, modification, addition to, or removal of the Telecommunications Facilities is not, in LESSEE’s sole discretion, 
reasonably obtainable or maintainable in the future; (iv) by LESSEE, upon thirty (30) days prior written notice to LESSOR, in the event 
that the Leased Premises cease to be economically viable as a telecommunications site (as determined by LESSEE in its sole business 
judgment); and (v) by LESSEE, upon thirty (30) days prior written notice to LESSOR, if any Hazardous Substance (as defined in Section 
13 below) is or becomes present on the Property in violation of any Environmental Laws (as also defined in Section 13 below) to the 
extent that such is not caused by LESSEE.   
 
 (b) Except as expressly limited by this Agreement, a party’s termination hereof as the result of a breach thereof by the other 
party that is not cured within the applicable period set forth in Section 10(a) shall be in addition to, and not in lieu of, any and all 
remedies available to the terminating party, whether at law or in equity. 
 
11.  Condemnation.  If all or any part of the Leased Premises, or if all or any part of the Property underlying the Telecommunication 
Facilities or providing access to the Premises is taken by eminent domain or other action by governmental authority(s) of appropriate 
jurisdiction (each, an “Act of Condemnation”), and if, in LESSEE’s sole discretion, such an Act(s) of Condemnation renders the 
Premises unusable for the Permitted Use set forth in Section 3 hereof, then LESSEE shall have the right to immediately terminate this 
Agreement upon written notice to Lessor, and all Rent obligations (except those that accrued prior to the effective date of termination) 
shall cease. If LESSEE elects not to terminate this Agreement following an Act of Condemnation, then this Agreement shall continue 
unaffected, except that the Rent shall be reduced or abated in proportion to the actual reduction or abatement of LESSEE’s use of the 
Leased Premises as a result of such Act of Condemnation. In the event of an Act of Condemnation (whether in whole or in part), LESSEE 
shall be entitled to pursue and receive the award related to the Telecommunication Facilities and any equipment and/or infrastructure 
owned or constructed by LESSEE that is related thereto.  The terms set forth in this Section 11 shall survive the expiration or earlier 
termination of this Agreement. 
 
12.  Indemnification.  Subject to the provisions of Section 14 below, LESSEE shall defend (with counsel reasonably acceptable to 
LESSOR), indemnify, and hold LESSOR harmless from and against any claims (including reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs and expenses 
incurred in defending against such claims), losses, damages, and liabilities (collectively, “Claims”) resulting from the negligence or willful 
misconduct of LESSEE and LESSEE’s agents, licensees, invitees, and contractors, and the shareholders, directors, officers, and employees 
of each of them (the “LESSEE Parties”) occurring in or about the Premises or the Property.  LESSOR shall defend (with counsel reasonably 

65

Item 5.



Infra Towers Option and Ground Lease: UT109 

 

acceptable to LESSEE), indemnify, and hold LESSEE harmless from all Claims arising from the negligence or willful misconduct of 
LESSOR and LESSOR’s agents, lessees, licensees, invitees, and contractors, and the shareholders, directors, officers, and employees of each 
of them (the “LESSOR Parties”) occurring in or about the Premises or the Property.  The terms set forth in this Section 12 shall survive the 
expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement. 
 
13.  Hazardous Substances.  LESSOR represents and warrants to LESSEE that LESSOR (a) is not presently, nor at any time in the 
past did LESSOR engage in or permit, and (b) has no knowledge of any other person or entity’s engaging (whether past or present) or 
permitting (whether past or present) any operations or activities upon, or any use or occupancy of any portion of the Property (including, 
without limitation, the Leased Premises), for the purpose of or in any way involving the handling, manufacturing, treatment, storage, 
use, transportation, spillage, leakage, dumping, discharge or disposal (whether legal or illegal), accidental or intentional, of any 
hazardous substances, materials or wastes (individually, a “Hazardous Substance” and collectively, “Hazardous Substances”) regulated 
under any federal, state, or local law, rule, or regulation pertaining to the environment, public health or safety, or the handling, 
manufacturing, treatment storage, use, transportation, spillage, leakage, dumping, discharge or disposal of Hazardous Substances 
(collectively, “Environmental Laws”). LESSOR and LESSEE each agree that they will not use, generate, store, or dispose of any 
Hazardous Material on, under, about or within the Property or the Leased Premises in violation of any Environmental Law(s). LESSOR 
shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless LESSEE and the LESSEE Parties (as defined in Section 12 above), and LESSEE shall 
indemnify, defend, and hold harmless LESSOR and the LESSOR Parties (as defined in Section 12 above), from and against any and all 
Claims (as also defined in Section 12) arising from the indemnifying party’s breach of any obligation, representation, or warranty 
contained in this paragraph, except for Claims arising in whole or in any part out of the indemnified party’s use or occupancy of the 
Property or the Leased Premises.  The indemnification provisions set forth in this Section 13 shall survive the expiration or earlier 
termination of this Agreement. 
 
14.  Insurance.  a) During the Term of this Agreement, LESSEE shall, at its sole cost and expense, procure and maintain the following 
insurance with customary exceptions and exclusions: (i) Bodily Injury: $1,000,000.00 for injury to any one (1) person, $2,000,000.00 
for injury(s) sustained by more than one (1) person in any one (1) occurrence, and $2,000,000.00 in the aggregate; and (ii) Property 
Damage: replacement cost for all of LESSEE’s equipment located at the Leased Premises (collectively, the “LESSEE Policies”). 
LESSEE covenants and agrees that LESSOR shall be named as an additional insured under the LESSEE Policies. In the event of 
LESSOR’s written request therefore, LESSEE shall provide LESSOR with a certificate of insurance evidencing the coverage required 
hereby not later than thirty (30) days following its receipt of LESSOR’s request. 
 

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing insurance requirements, the insolvency, bankruptcy, or failure of any insurance company carrying 
or writing any of the policies referenced in this Section 14 shall not be construed as a waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement, nor 
shall any such insolvency, bankruptcy, or failure relieve either party from its obligations hereunder. The terms set forth in this Section 14(b) 
shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement. 
 
15.  Taxes.  LESSOR shall be responsible for all real and personal property taxes, assessments, and similar charges assessed against the 
Property and LESSOR’s property thereon, and LESSEE shall be responsible, to the extent applicable, for any and all personal property 
taxes, assessments, and similar charges attributable to LESSEE’s equipment and other property owned by LESSEE located at the Leased 
Premises. 
 
16.  Quiet Enjoyment, Title and Authority. (a) During the Term of this Agreement, LESSEE may, provided that it is not in default 
hereunder beyond any applicable notice and cure period, peaceably and quietly hold and enjoy the Premises, free from disturbance from 
any person claiming by, through, or under LESSOR.   
 

(b) LESSOR covenants and warrants to LESSEE that: (i) LESSOR has full right, power, and authority to execute this 
Agreement; (ii) LESSOR has good and unencumbered title to the Property, free and clear of any liens or mortgages, except those 
disclosed to LESSEE and of record as of the date of this Agreement; (iii) there are no pending or threatened actions including, without 
limitation, bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings (whether voluntary or involuntary) under state or federal law, suits, claims or causes 
of action against LESSOR or which may otherwise adversely affect the Property or the Leased Premises, (iv) LESSOR has obtained 
any and all consents from third parties or governmental authorities necessary for the execution of this Agreement and (v) LESSOR’s 
execution and performance of this Agreement will not violate the covenants, provisions, representations, or warranties of any mortgage, 
deed of trust, lease, or other agreement to which LESSOR is a party or by which LESSOR is otherwise bound.     

 
(c) LESSOR agrees that, during the Term of this Agreement, LESSEE will have the exclusive right to use the Property or any 

portion thereof for use as telecommunications facilities providing transmission and/or receiving facilities for wireless providers and/or 
users, and that LESSOR shall not itself operate wireless telecommunications facilities on the Property, or any portion thereof, nor will 

66

Item 5.



Infra Towers Option and Ground Lease: UT109 

 

LESSOR grant a lease, sublease, license, or other right to use the Property, any portion thereof, or any property that is adjacent thereto 
that may be owned by LESSOR, to any other person or entity for the operation of antenna and/or telecommunications facilities. 

 
17.  Notices.  All notices, demands, requests, or other communications which are required to be given, served, or sent by one party to 
the other pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be mailed, postage prepaid, by registered or certified mail, or forwarded 
by a reliable overnight courier service with delivery verification, to the following addresses for LESSOR and LESSEE, or to such 
address as may be designated in writing by either party pursuant to this Section 17: 

 
If to LESSEE, to: 
Infra Towers, LLC 
ATTN: COO 
1800 Diagonal Road, Suite 600 
Alexandria, VA 22314 
(571) 366-1720 

 
With a copy to: 
Infra Holdings, LLC  
ATTN: Roni D. Jackson, Esq. 
27242 Paseo Peregrino 
San Juan Capistrano, CA 92675 
(714) 396-1360 
 

 
If to LESSOR, to: 
Kolleen Conger 
4326 Sunny Acres Lane 
Moab, UT 84532 
Telephone:    
 

 
With a copy to: 
     
     
     
Attn:     
Telephone:    
 

 
Notice given by certified or registered mail or by reliable overnight courier shall be deemed to have been delivered on the date of receipt 
(or on the date receipt is refused, as the case may be) as shown on the certification of receipt or on the records or manifest of the U.S. 
Postal Service or courier service. 
 
18.  Estoppel, Non-Disturbance and Attornment.  (a) From time to time during the Term of this Agreement, LESSOR agrees, upon 
not less than ten (10) days prior written notice from LESSEE, to execute, acknowledge and deliver to LESSEE a written estoppel 
certificate (the “Lessor Estoppel”) certifying that as of the date of the certification: (i) the Agreement is a valid and enforceable 
Agreement and is in full force and effect; (ii) that LESSEE is not in default under any of the terms, conditions, or covenants of the 
Agreement beyond or any applicable cure period or, if applicable, truthfully specifying any default by LESSEE hereunder and the cure 
period applicable thereto; (iii) the commencement and expiration dates of the then-current term hereof together with any remaining 
Renewal Term(s); (iv) the amount of the then-current rent payable under the Agreement; and (v) a true and correct copy of the Agreement 
and all amendments thereto shall be attached to the Lessor Estoppel.   
 

(b) LESSOR shall use good faith efforts to obtain for LESSEE from the holder of any mortgage and/or deed of trust now or 
hereafter encumbering the Property a non-disturbance and attornment agreement in a form reasonably satisfactory to LESSEE, which 
agreement shall provide that as long as LESSEE is not in default of any of its material obligations under this Agreement beyond any 
applicable cure period, its rights as LESSEE hereunder shall not be terminated and its access to and possession of the Leased Premises 
shall not be disturbed by the mortgagee or trustee, as the case may be, or by any proceedings on the debt which any such mortgage or 
deed of trust secures, and that any sale at foreclosure shall be subject to this Agreement. 

 
(c) For purposes of allowing LESSEE to satisfy its lender’s continuing rights with respect to LESSEE’S property on the Leased 

Premises, and with respect to LESSEE’s rights and interests under this Agreement, LESSOR agrees as follows:  
 
 (i) LESSOR shall recognize the subleases and/or licenses of all Customers of LESSEE on the Leased Premises, and, 
notwithstanding any default hereunder by LESSEE, will permit such Customers to remain in occupancy thereof so long as such 
Customer is not in default of any material obligation under its sublease/license with LESSEE beyond any applicable notice and 
cure period;  
 
(ii) LESSOR consents to the granting by LESSEE of a lien and security interest in and/or mortgaging of LESSEE’s interest in 
this Agreement and all of LESSEE’s personal property and fixtures located on or attached to the Property, and furthermore 
consents to the exercise by LESSEE’s mortgagee of its rights of foreclosure with respect to such mortgagee’s lien and/or 
security interest.  LESSOR agrees to recognize LESSEE’s mortgagee as LESSEE hereunder upon any such exercise by 

67

Item 5.



Infra Towers Option and Ground Lease: UT109 

 

LESSEE’s mortgagee of its rights of foreclosure. LESSOR further agrees (A) to subordinate any lien or security interest which 
it may have which arises by law or pursuant to this Agreement to the lien and security interest of LESSEE’s mortgagee in the 
collateral securing all indebtedness at any time owed by LESSEE to its mortgagee (collectively the "Collateral"), and (B) that, 
upon an event of default by LESSEE under this Agreement or under any applicable mortgage, security agreement, or other loan 
document executed in favor of LESSEE’s mortgagee, LESSEE’s mortgagee shall have the full right, title, and authority to 
exercise its rights against the Collateral prior to the exercise by the LESSOR of any rights which it may have or claim to have 
therein, including, but not limited to, the right to enter upon the Leased Premises and remove the Collateral free and clear of 
any applicable lien or security interest of LESSOR; 
 
(iii)  Within a reasonable time after the occurrence thereof, LESSOR shall give LESSEE’s lender written notice of any breach 
or default of the terms of this Agreement that is not cured by LESSEE within any applicable notice and cure period(s) (an 
“Uncured LESSEE Default”). In this regard, LESSEE agrees to notify LESSOR in writing from time to time during the Term 
of the names and notice addresses of LESSEE’s lenders.  LESSOR further agrees that no default shall be deemed to have 
occurred under this Agreement unless LESSOR gives the notice required to lender that is required by this paragraph, and that 
in the event of any Uncured LESSEE Default, lender shall have the right, to the same extent and with the same effect as 
LESSEE, for the period set forth in this Agreement, to cure or correct any such Uncured LESSEE Default, whether the same 
shall consist of the failure to pay rent or the failure to perform, and LESSOR agrees to accept such payment or performance on 
the part of lender as though the same had been made or performed by the LESSEE; and 
 
(iv) LESSOR acknowledges and agrees that nothing contained in this Agreement shall construed as obligating LESSEE’s 
mortgagee to take any action hereunder, or to perform or discharge any obligation, duty, or liability of LESSEE under this 
Agreement.                 

 
19.  Assignment and Subletting LESSEE shall have the right to assign its interest in this this Agreement, whether in whole or in part, 
without LESSOR’s consent.  Upon notification to LESSOR of such assignment, LESSEE shall be relieved of all future performance, 
liabilities and obligations under this Agreement.  In addition, LESSEE shall have the right to license or sublet the Leased Premises, in 
whole or in part, without LESSOR’s consent, for the Permitted Use set forth in Section 3. 
 
20.  Right of First Refusal.  If, during the Option Period or the Lease Term, LESSOR receives a bona fide offer (“Bona Fide Offer”) 
from a third party to lease or purchase (a) an interest in all or a portion of the Property whether in fee, by grant of easement, or otherwise, 
(b) LESSOR’s interest under this Agreement including, but not limited to, LESSOR’s rights to receive rents hereunder,   and/or (c) the 
right to enter into an option, lease, or easement after the term of this Agreement that LESSOR is willing to accept (individually and 
collectively, the “Property Interest”), LESSEE shall have the right of first refusal (“Right of First Refusal”) to so acquire the Property 
Interest that is the subject of the Bona Fide Offer. LESSOR shall provide LESSEE with a written copy of the Bona Fide Offer, and 
LESSEE shall have thirty (30) days following its receipt thereof to notify LESSOR in writing as to whether it wishes to exercise its 
Right of First Refusal with respect to the Property Interest that is the subject thereof. If LESSEE exercises its right to purchase the 
subject Property Interest, such purchase shall be made pursuant to all of the terms and conditions set forth under the Bona Fide Offer. If 
LESSEE fails to exercise its Right of First Refusal, this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect, and such Right of First Refusal 
shall lapse with respect to the Bona Fide Offer, but not with respect to any subsequent Bona Fide Offer(s)), unless LESSOR fails to 
convey the subject Property Interest to the third party in strict accordance with the terms of the Bona Fide Offer within one hundred 
eighty (180) days of the date of LESSEE’s waiver of such Right of First Refusal.  
 
21.  Miscellaneous.   (a) This Agreement, including Exhibits A-D hereto which are hereby incorporated herein by this reference, 
constitutes the entire Agreement and understanding of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior 
offers, negotiations, and agreements with respect thereto.  There are no representations or understandings of any kind not set forth herein.  
Any amendments to this Agreement must be in writing and be executed by a duly authorized representative of each party.   
 

(b)    LESSOR shall, not later than thirty (30) days following the Effective Date hereof, provide LESSEE with a copy of 
LESSOR’s organizational  documents which may include, by way of example, (i) LESSOR’s Articles of Incorporation, By-Laws, 
Partnership Agreement, Operating Agreement and the like, which documents shall evidence LESSOR’s authority, right, and ability to 
enter into this Agreement, (ii) current certificates of good standing and incumbency, (iii) a duly-executed and authorized resolution 
authorizing the transactions contemplated hereby, and (iv) a document evidencing, to LESSEE’s commercially-reasonable satisfaction, 
the signature authority of the LESSOR representative who executed this Agreement on LESSOR’s behalf. 

 
(c) Concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, the parties shall execute the Memorandum of Lease attached hereto and 

incorporated herein as Exhibit “C” (the “Memorandum”). LESSEE shall cause the Memorandum to be recorded, at LESSEE’s sole 

68

Item 5.



Infra Towers Option and Ground Lease: UT109 

 

cost and expense, in the official records of the county and state in which the Leased Premises are located.  Upon determination of the 
legal description of the Leased Premises by LESSEE  (the “Leased Premises Legal Description”), LESSOR and LESSEE shall amend 
this Agreement and record an amendment to the Memorandum to incorporate the Leased Premises Legal Description.      

 
(d)  Any sale or conveyance of all or any portion of the Premises shall be subject to this Agreement and LESSEE’s rights 

hereunder. 
 
(e) This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the state in which the Premises are located, without regard 

to the choice of law rules thereof.   
 
(f) If any term of this Agreement is found to be void or invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the remaining terms of this 

Agreement, which shall continue in full force and effect.   
 
(g) This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts (including by facsimile or by electronic copy or 

transmission), each of which shall be the binding agreement of the executing party, and which, when taken together, shall constitute but 
one and the same instrument.  

 
(h) This Agreement shall extend to and be binding upon the heirs, successors or assignees of the parties hereto. 
 
(i) The headings, captions and numbers in this Agreement are solely for convenience and shall not be considered in construing 

or interpreting any provision herein. 
 
(j) Neither party to this Agreement shall be liable for any real estate brokers’ or leasing agents’ commissions in the absence of 

a written agreement, which expressly provides therefore and is signed by the party to be charged or obligated with payment thereof.  
LESSOR and LESSEE shall each indemnify and defend and hold harmless each other from and against any liability arising from such 
claims for commissions as a result of its acts. 

 
(k) No failure or delay by either party to the exercise of its rights under this Agreement or to insist upon the strict compliance 

with any obligation imposed by this Agreement, and no course of dealing, custom or practice of either party contrary to the terms of this 
Agreement, shall constitute a waiver or a modification of the terms hereof or the right to demand strict compliance with the terms of 
this Agreement.   

 
(l) The provisions of this Section 21 shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement. 
   
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS.]  

69

Item 5.



70

Item 5.



71

Item 5.



Infra Towers Option and Ground Lease: UT109 

 

EXHIBIT “A” TO OPTION AND GROUND LEASE AGREEMENT 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY 
 
Address:  
4326 Sunny Acres Lane 
Moab, UT 84532 
San Juan County 
 
Parcel ID:  
26S22E354204 
 
Legal Description:  
 
 
 
 
  

72

Item 5.



Infra Towers Option and Ground Lease: UT109 

 

EXHIBIT “B” TO OPTION AND GROUND LEASE AGREEMENT 
 

DEPICTION/DESCRIPTION/SITE PLAN OF LEASED PREMISES1 
 
 
 

The Leased Premises includes ground space. 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 

 
1  LESSEE reserves the right to replace this Exhibit during the Term of this Agreement with a legal description of the Leased Premises 
(the “Leased Premises Legal Description”) and an as-built site plan (the “As-Bult Site Plan”). Effective on the date of LESSEE’s delivery 
of the Leased Premises Legal Description/As-Built Site Plan to LESSOR, such Legal Description/As-Built Site Plan shall replace the 
text of this Exhibit. 

73

Item 5.



Infra Towers Option and Ground Lease: UT109 

 

EXHIBIT “C” TO OPTION AND GROUND LEASE AGREEMENT 
MEMORANDUM OF LEASE 

 

[SEE ATTACHED.] 

74

Item 5.



LOCATION MAP N

DRIVING DIRECTIONS CONTACT INFORMATION INDEX OF SHEETS

SHEET DESCRIPTION

T-1 1

T1 TITLE SHEET

1A CERTIFICATION

AREA PLAN
C2

TOWER ELEVATION C3
COMPOUND DETAIL

SITE NAME:
UT-109 SPANISH VALLEY

333909.883690

PROJECT INFORMATION

SITE NAME:

PROJECT
DESCRIPTION:

TOWER TYPE:

SITE ADDRESS:

AREA OF
CONSTRUCTION:

LEGAL
DESCRIPTION:

PARCEL #:

JURISDICTION:

UT-109 SPANISH VALLEY

PROPOSED
TELECOMMUNICATIONS
FACILITY

125' MONOPOLE TOWER

4326 E SUNNY ACRES LN
SPANISH VALLEY, UT 84532

2,500± SQ. FT. (LEASE AREA)

LOCATED WITHIN SECTION 35,
TOWNSHIP 26 SOUTH, RANGE 22
EAST, SALT LAKE BASE AND
MERIDIAN

26S22E354204

SAN JUAN COUNTY

SITE APPLICANT:

ORIGINAL SURVEYOR:

CIVIL ENGINEER:
TOWER ENGINEERING PROFESSIONALS
4700 DAHLIA STREET
DENVER, CO 80216
NICHOLAS M. CONSTATINE, P.E.
(303) 566-9914

ELECTRICAL ENGINEER:
NAME:
ADDRESS:
CITY, STATE, ZIP:
CONTACT:
PHONE:

PROPERTY OWNER:

NAME:
ADDRESS:
CITY, STATE, ZIP:
CONTACT:
PHONE:

NAME:
ADDRESS:
CITY, STATE, ZIP:
CONTACT:
PHONE:

NAME:
ADDRESS:
CITY, STATE, ZIP:
CONTACT:
PHONE:

NAME:
ADDRESS:
CITY, STATE, ZIP:

  W 109° 28' 17.51"     (NAD '83) *
N   38° 29'53.02"     (NAD '83) *LATITUDE

LONGITUDE

GROUND ELEVATION =                         4739'   (NAVD '88) *

CIS PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYING
1025 NORTH 300 WEST ST
NEPHI, UT 84648
CORY IVAN SQUIRE, P.L.S.
(435) 660-0816

TOWER ENGINEERING PROFESSIONALS
4700 DAHLIA STREET
DENVER, CO 80216
NICHOLAS M. CONSTATINE, P.E.
(303) 566-9914

TOWER ENGINEERING PROFESSIONALS
4700 DAHLIA STREET
 DENVER, CO 80216

OFFICE: (303) 566-9914
www.tepgroup.net

CODE COMPLIANCE

ALL WORK AND MATERIALS SHALL BE PERFORMED AND INSTALLED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE CURRENT EDITIONS OF THE FOLLOWING CODES
AS ADOPTED BY THE LOCAL GOVERNING AUTHORITIES. NOTHING IN THESE
PLANS IS TO BE CONSTRUED TO PERMIT WORK NOT CONFORMING TO THE
LATEST EDITIONS OF THE FOLLOWING:
1. INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE

(2018 EDITION)
2. INTERNATIONAL CODE COUNCIL
3. ANSI/TIA/EIA-222-G

4. NATIONAL ELECTRIC CODE
(2020 EDITION)

5.  LOCAL BUILDING CODE
6. CITY/COUNTY ORDINANCES

CALL FOR UNDERGROUND
UTILITIES PRIOR TO DIGGING:

(800) 662-4111

EMERGENCY:

CALL 911

1

MKB KES

REV

PROJECT DESCRIPTION & NOTES

CONSTRUCTION OF A TELECOMMUNICATION FACILITY, CONSISTING OF ANTENNAS
& ASSOCIATED APPURTENANCES ON A PROPOSED MONOPOLE TOWER, FENCED
COMPOUND & SERVICE EQUIPMENT FOR FUTURE CARRIERS.  NO WATER OR
SEWER IS REQUIRED.

1. FACILITY DESIGNED IN ACCORDANCE WITH SAN JUAN COUNTY REGULATIONS.
2. THIS IS AN UNMANNED FACILITY WHICH WILL NOT REQUIRE ANY WATER OR

SEWER FACILITIES.
3. TRAFFIC WILL CONSIST ONLY OF MAINTENANCE PERSONNEL, VISITING THE

SITE APPROXIMATELY TWICE A MONTH.

FROM THE CANYONLANDS FIELD AIRPORT: HEAD EAST ON W AVIATION WAY TOWARD
US-191 N,TURN RIGHT ONTO US-191 S, TURN LEFT ONTO E SUNNY ACRES LN.

INFRA TOWERS, LLC
1800 DIAGONAL ROAD
ALEXANDRIA, VA 22314
TIERNEY ROWE
(801) 597-4516

*INFORMATION PROVIDED BY CIS PROFESSIONAL LAND
SURVEYING IN THE FORM OF A 1-A CERTIFICATION
DATED MAY 30, 2023.

N1 GENERAL NOTES

PROPOSED 125' MONOPOLE TOWER

C4

C1

DRIVEWAY DETAILS

C5

C7

FENCE DETAILS

ELECTRICAL NOTESE1

GROUNDING PLAN AND DETAILSG1
GROUNDING DETAILSG2

G3
G4

GROUNDING DETAILS II
GROUNDING DETAILS III

G5 GROUNDING DETAILS IV

KOLLEEN CONGER
4326 E SUNNY ACRES LN
SPANISH VALLEY, UT 84532-9701

SITE PLAN

C6A

PRELIMINARY

POWER PROVIDER:
NAME:
ADDRESS:
CITY, STATE, ZIP:
CONTACT:
PHONE:

ROCKY MOUNTAIN POWER

(888) 221-7070

VERIZON EQUIPMENT PLATFORM DETAIL I

VERIZON GENERATOR DETAIL
VERIZON ICE BRIDGE DETAILS
ANTENNA MOUNTING DETAILS

C8
C9

C10
C11

ONE-LINE ELEVATION & POWER PANEL SCHEDULEE2

SIGNAGE DETAILS

POWER/TELCO PLAN & ONE-LINE DIAGRAME3
SERVICE RACK DETAILSE4

SU1 SURVEY NOTES & REFERENCE, SITE PLAN OVERVIEW 1
SU2 ENLARGED LEASE AREA SITE PLAN 1

1

0 09-21-23

C6B VERIZON EQUIPMENT PLATFORM DETAIL II

4326 E SUNNY ACRES LN
SPANISH VALLEY, UT 84532

(SAN JUAN COUNTY)

DO NOT USE FOR

CONSTRUCTIO
N

PRELIM
INARY

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

SITE

PRELIMINARY1 10-10-23

75

Item 5.



STRUCTURAL STEEL NOTES:GENERAL NOTES:

MKB KES

N-1

GENERAL
NOTES

UT-109
SPANISH VALLEY

333909.883690

1

TOWER ENGINEERING PROFESSIONALS
4700 DAHLIA STREET
DENVER, CO 80216

OFFICE: (303) 566-9914
www.tepgroup.net

PRELIMINARY0 09-21-23

DO NOT USE FOR

CONSTRUCTIO
N

PRELIM
INARY

PRELIMINARY1 10-10-23

76

Item 5.



LEGEND

PROPERTY SETBACKS

1A CERTIFICATION

E SUNNY ACRES LNN
 S

U
N

SH
IN

E 
C

IR

C-1SITE PLAN

AREA PLAN

UT-109
SPANISH VALLEY

333909.883690

1

TOWER ENGINEERING PROFESSIONALS
4700 DAHLIA STREET
DENVER, CO 80216

OFFICE: (303) 566-9914
www.tepgroup.net

PRELIMINARY0 09-21-23

DO NOT USE FOR

CONSTRUCTIO
N

PRELIM
INARY

PRELIMINARY1 10-10-23

MKB KES

NOTES:

77

Item 5.



LEGEND

E SUNNY ACRES LN

C-2SITE PLAN

SITE PLAN

UT-109
SPANISH VALLEY

333909.883690

1

TOWER ENGINEERING PROFESSIONALS
4700 DAHLIA STREET
DENVER, CO 80216

OFFICE: (303) 566-9914
www.tepgroup.net

PRELIMINARY0 09-21-23

DO NOT USE FOR

CONSTRUCTIO
N

PRELIM
INARY

PRELIMINARY1 10-10-23

MKB KES

78

Item 5.



·

·

·

·

MKB KES

C-3TOWER ELEVATION

TOWER ELEVATION

UT-109
SPANISH VALLEY

333909.883690

1

TOWER ENGINEERING PROFESSIONALS
4700 DAHLIA STREET
DENVER, CO 80216

OFFICE: (303) 566-9914
www.tepgroup.net

PRELIMINARY0 09-21-23

DO NOT USE FOR

CONSTRUCTIO
N

PRELIM
INARY

PRELIMINARY1 10-10-23

NOTES:

79

Item 5.



COMPOUND DETAIL C-4

COMPOUND
DETAIL

UT-109
SPANISH VALLEY

333909.883690

1

TOWER ENGINEERING PROFESSIONALS
4700 DAHLIA STREET
DENVER, CO 80216

OFFICE: (303) 566-9914
www.tepgroup.net

PRELIMINARY0 09-21-23

DO NOT USE FOR

CONSTRUCTIO
N

PRELIM
INARY

PRELIMINARY1 10-10-23

MKB KES

NOTES:

PROPERTY LINE SETBACKS

80

Item 5.



UT-109
SPANISH VALLEY

333909.883690

1

TOWER ENGINEERING PROFESSIONALS
4700 DAHLIA STREET
DENVER, CO 80216

OFFICE: (303) 566-9914
www.tepgroup.net

PRELIMINARY0 09-21-23

DO NOT USE FOR

CONSTRUCTIO
N

PRELIM
INARY

PRELIMINARY1 10-10-23

 KES

C-5GATE STOP / KEEPER DETAIL

FENCE
DETAILS

TYPICAL FENCE ELEVATION

FENCE / BARBED WIRE ARM DETAIL

MKB

GROUNDING AT GATE POST

GATE DETENT DETAIL
81

Item 5.



FOUNDATION NOTES:

MKB KES

C-6ACONCRETE SLAB DETAIL

VERIZON EQUIPMENT
PAD DETAILS I

UT-109
SPANISH VALLEY

333909.883690

1

TOWER ENGINEERING PROFESSIONALS
4700 DAHLIA STREET
DENVER, CO 80216

OFFICE: (303) 566-9914
www.tepgroup.net

PRELIMINARY0 09-21-23

DO NOT USE FOR

CONSTRUCTIO
N

PRELIM
INARY

PRELIMINARY1 10-10-23

EQUIPMENT PAD DETAIL
PAD SECTION-OPTION A

PAD SECTION-OPTION B
82

Item 5.



MKB KES

C-6BNOT USED

VERIZON EQUIPMENT
PAD DETAILS II

CABINET PLINTH DETAILS

FRONT VIEWTOP VIEWSIDE VIEW

EQUIPMENT PAD ELEVATIONS

UT-109
SPANISH VALLEY

333909.883690

1

TOWER ENGINEERING PROFESSIONALS
4700 DAHLIA STREET
DENVER, CO 80216

OFFICE: (303) 566-9914
www.tepgroup.net

PRELIMINARY0 09-21-23

DO NOT USE FOR

CONSTRUCTIO
N

PRELIM
INARY

PRELIMINARY1 10-10-23

83

Item 5.



MKB KES

C-7

VERIZON
GENERATOR

DETAILS

UT-109
SPANISH VALLEY

333909.883690

1

TOWER ENGINEERING PROFESSIONALS
4700 DAHLIA STREET
DENVER, CO 80216

OFFICE: (303) 566-9914
www.tepgroup.net

PRELIMINARY0 09-21-23

DO NOT USE FOR

CONSTRUCTIO
N

PRELIM
INARY

PRELIMINARY1 10-10-23

84

Item 5.



NOTES:

MKB KES

C-8ICE BRIDGE DETAIL

VERIZON
ICE BRIDGE

DETAILS

ISOMETRIC VIEW

SIDE VIEW

UT-109
SPANISH VALLEY

333909.883690

1

TOWER ENGINEERING PROFESSIONALS
4700 DAHLIA STREET
DENVER, CO 80216

OFFICE: (303) 566-9914
www.tepgroup.net

PRELIMINARY0 09-21-23

DO NOT USE FOR

CONSTRUCTIO
N

PRELIM
INARY

PRELIMINARY1 10-10-23

85

Item 5.



VERIZON ANTENNA / COAX / RRH KEY
EXISTING
OR NEW AZIMUTH ANTENNA

℄ (AGL)
MANUFACTURER

MODEL # CABLES

·

·

ADDITIONAL:

RRUSECTOR TECHNOLOGY

UT-109
SPANISH VALLEY

333909.883690

1

TOWER ENGINEERING PROFESSIONALS
4700 DAHLIA STREET
DENVER, CO 80216

OFFICE: (303) 566-9914
www.tepgroup.net

PRELIMINARY0 09-21-23

DO NOT USE FOR

CONSTRUCTIO
N

PRELIM
INARY

PRELIMINARY1 10-10-23

MKB KES

C-9ANTENNA MOUNT

ANTENNA MOUNTING
DETAILS

ANTENNA / COAX / RRH KEY

ANTENNA ORIENTATION @ 121'

TO BE

DETERMINED

TO BE

DETERMINED

86

Item 5.



MKB KES

C-10

DRIVEWAY DETAILS

STANDARD ROAD SECTION (GOOD SUBGRADE)

UT-109
SPANISH VALLEY

333909.883690

1

TOWER ENGINEERING PROFESSIONALS
4700 DAHLIA STREET
DENVER, CO 80216

OFFICE: (303) 566-9914
www.tepgroup.net

PRELIMINARY0 09-21-23

DO NOT USE FOR

CONSTRUCTIO
N

PRELIM
INARY

PRELIMINARY1 10-10-23

STANDARD ROAD SECTION (POOR SUBGRADE)
87

Item 5.



SITE # UT-109
SITE NAME: Spanish Valley
FCC ASR #

FOR LEASING AND ACCESS INFORMATION CALL: MKB KES

C-11SIGNAGE DETAILS

SIGNAGE
DETAILS

UT-109
SPANISH VALLEY

333909.883690

1

TOWER ENGINEERING PROFESSIONALS
4700 DAHLIA STREET
DENVER, CO 80216

OFFICE: (303) 566-9914
www.tepgroup.net

PRELIMINARY0 09-21-23

DO NOT USE FOR

CONSTRUCTIO
N

PRELIM
INARY

PRELIMINARY1 10-10-23

·

·

NOTES:

88

Item 5.



CODES:

TESTING:

GUARANTEE:

UTILITY CO-ORDINATION:

EXAMINATION OF SITE:

CUTTING, PATCHING AND EXCAVATION:

SCOPE:

CONDUCTORS:

GROUNDING:

UL COMPLIANCE:

EXTERIOR CONDUIT:

EQUIPMENT:

RACEWAYS / CONDUITS GENERAL:

ABBREVIATIONS AND LEGEND

INTERIOR CONDUIT:

E-1

ELECTRICAL
NOTES

UT-109
SPANISH VALLEY

333909.883690

1

TOWER ENGINEERING PROFESSIONALS
4700 DAHLIA STREET
DENVER, CO 80216

OFFICE: (303) 566-9914
www.tepgroup.net

PRELIMINARY0 09-21-23

DO NOT USE FOR

CONSTRUCTIO
N

PRELIM
INARY

PRELIMINARY1 10-10-23

KESMKB

89

Item 5.



NOTES:

REAR VIEWFRONT VIEW

FRONT VIEW

ILC POWER PANEL SCHEDULE 120/240V 200A

MKB KES

E-2ONE-LINE ELEVATION

ONE-LINE ELEVATION
& POWER PANEL

SCHEDULE

UT-109
SPANISH VALLEY

333909.883690

1

TOWER ENGINEERING PROFESSIONALS
4700 DAHLIA STREET
DENVER, CO 80216

OFFICE: (303) 566-9914
www.tepgroup.net

PRELIMINARY0 09-21-23

DO NOT USE FOR

CONSTRUCTIO
N

PRELIM
INARY

PRELIMINARY1 10-10-23

90

Item 5.



NOTES:

ONE LINE DIAGRAM NOTES: NOTES:

E-3UNDERGROUND CONDUIT(S) TRENCH DETAIL

POWER/TELCO
PLAN AND ONE-LINE

DIAGRAM

VERIZON POWER AND TELCO PLAN

ONE-LINE DETAIL

UT-109
SPANISH VALLEY

333909.883690

1

TOWER ENGINEERING PROFESSIONALS
4700 DAHLIA STREET
DENVER, CO 80216

OFFICE: (303) 566-9914
www.tepgroup.net

PRELIMINARY0 09-21-23

DO NOT USE FOR

CONSTRUCTIO
N

PRELIM
INARY

PRELIMINARY1 10-10-23

KESMKB

POWER AND TELCO PLAN

91

Item 5.



NOTES:

FRONT VIEW

E-4SERVICE RACK DETAILS

INFRA TOWERS
SERVICE

RACK DETAILS

UT-109
SPANISH VALLEY

333909.883690

1

TOWER ENGINEERING PROFESSIONALS
4700 DAHLIA STREET
DENVER, CO 80216

OFFICE: (303) 566-9914
www.tepgroup.net

PRELIMINARY0 09-21-23

DO NOT USE FOR

CONSTRUCTIO
N

PRELIM
INARY

PRELIMINARY1 10-10-23

KESMKB

92

Item 5.



GROUNDING NOTESDRAWING NOTES: UT-109
SPANISH VALLEY

333909.883690

1

TOWER ENGINEERING PROFESSIONALS
4700 DAHLIA STREET
DENVER, CO 80216

OFFICE: (303) 566-9914
www.tepgroup.net

PRELIMINARY0 09-21-23

DO NOT USE FOR

CONSTRUCTIO
N

PRELIM
INARY

PRELIMINARY1 10-10-23

G-1TYPICAL GROUNDING PLAN

GROUNDING PLAN
AND DETAILS

GROUNDING AT GATE POST

INSPECTION WELL DETAIL

KESMKB

TRENCH DETAIL

93

Item 5.



NOTES:

UT-109
SPANISH VALLEY

333909.883690

1

TOWER ENGINEERING PROFESSIONALS
4700 DAHLIA STREET
DENVER, CO 80216

OFFICE: (303) 566-9914
www.tepgroup.net

PRELIMINARY0 09-21-23

DO NOT USE FOR

CONSTRUCTIO
N

PRELIM
INARY

PRELIMINARY1 10-10-23

G-2

GROUNDING
DETAILS

CONNECTOR AND HARDWARE DETAIL

SINGLE CONNECTOR AT GROUND BARS BACK TO BACK CONNECTOR AT GROUND BARS

BACK TO BACK CONNECTOR AT STEEL OBJECTSSINGLE CONNECTOR AT STEEL OBJECTS

SINGLE CONNECTOR AT METALLIC/STEEL OBJECTS BACK TO BACK CONNECTOR AT METALLIC/STEEL OBJECTS

KESMKB

94

Item 5.



NOTES: UT-109
SPANISH VALLEY

333909.883690

1

TOWER ENGINEERING PROFESSIONALS
4700 DAHLIA STREET
DENVER, CO 80216

OFFICE: (303) 566-9914
www.tepgroup.net

PRELIMINARY0 09-21-23

DO NOT USE FOR

CONSTRUCTIO
N

PRELIM
INARY

PRELIMINARY1 10-10-23

MKB KES

G-3TYPICAL ICE BRIDGE, COAX, STANCHION, AND TOWER GROUNDING DETAIL

GROUNDING
DETAILS II

95

Item 5.



G-4

GROUNDING
DETAILS III

TOWER BASE GROUNDING DETAIL

UT-109
SPANISH VALLEY

333909.883690

1

TOWER ENGINEERING PROFESSIONALS
4700 DAHLIA STREET
DENVER, CO 80216

OFFICE: (303) 566-9914
www.tepgroup.net

PRELIMINARY0 09-21-23

DO NOT USE FOR

CONSTRUCTIO
N

PRELIM
INARY

PRELIMINARY1 10-10-23

TOWER GROUNDING

KESMKB

96

Item 5.



TOP VIEW

SIDE VIEW

UT-109
SPANISH VALLEY

333909.883690

1

TOWER ENGINEERING PROFESSIONALS
4700 DAHLIA STREET
DENVER, CO 80216

OFFICE: (303) 566-9914
www.tepgroup.net

PRELIMINARY0 09-21-23

DO NOT USE FOR

CONSTRUCTIO
N

PRELIM
INARY

PRELIMINARY1 10-10-23

MKB KES

G-5

GROUNDING
DETAILS IV

STANDARD GROUND BAR DETAIL

NOTE:

CADWELD GROUNDING DETAIL
97

Item 5.



PO BOX 1453 SALIDA CO 81201 |  www.telemtn.com   |   (303)  437 -0510 

Date:  November 2, 2023 

To:  Tierney Rowe; Infra Towers, LLC 

Re:  Coverage assessment and alternative site analysis; Spanish Valley, UT 

Dear Ms. Rowe, 

TeleMtn Engineering has completed an assessment of Verizon’s current and proposed wireless 

coverage in and around Spanish Valley and Moab, UT, and along US-191 into San Juan County, 

UT. The assessment was focused on the following three factors: 

1) Current coverage in the Spanish Valley area, and the demonstrated need for additional 
indoor coverage as well as extended coverage along US-191 to the south. 

2) Coverage enhancements provided by the proposed new wireless facility in the vicinity 
of Spanish Valley and Moab, UT.

3) Suitability of existing towers for the purpose of providing the desired coverage, as 
alternatives to the proposed new wireless facility. 

Methodology: 

This analysis was completed using a professional quality propagation modelling and network 

planning tool (Forsk, Atoll).  The site configurations modelled were “typical” of configurations 

used by the leading national wireless service providers and the antenna orientations modelled 

were optimized for the desired service area.  The technology modelled was LTE in the AWS 

band (2100Mhz).  Coverage thresholds used are likewise “typical” for the leading national 

carriers and are reasonable representations of coverage for highly reliable voice and data 

usage. 

Findings: 

The current indoor coverage in the Spanish Valley can be broadly characterized as marginal.  

Some areas with a favorable line of sight to existing cell sites may experience adequate service, 

while others may have unreliable or no service at all.  Likewise, in-vehicle coverage may also be 

“spotty” depending on location, especially along US-191 south of the Grand-San Juan County 

line. 

The proposed new wireless facility will provide substantial new coverage in and around 

Spanish Valley, as well as on US-191 south of Spanish Valley.  The coverage enhancements will 

be particularly pronounced for in-building use.  This point is significant given that the latest 

survey released by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (attached) shows that ~75%  

98

Item 5.



TELEMTN ENGINEERING LLC 

PO BOX 1453 SALIDA CO 81201  |   www.telemtn.com  |   (303) 437 -0510 2 

of Utahns live in a “wireless only” household. In addition to the in-building coverage 

improvements, the proposed site will improve coverage and reliability for vehicular usage 

along US-191 through Spanish Valley, and to the south.  

Predicted coverage from the five existing sites identified within a seven-mile radius of the 

proposed site did not show significant coverage improvements in the desired coverage area of 

Spanish Valley.  In addition, the relative proximity of these sites to Verizon’s current sites, and 

further distance from the target coverage area, would create interference to the current 

coverage area without any significant improvements to the target coverage area. 

Conclusion: 

It is the opinion of TeleMtn Engineering that the coverage plots in the attached report depict a 

clear coverage/service benefit from the proposed new wireless facility in Spanish Valley.  

Likewise, they also clearly show that none of the alternative locations analyzed can provide a 

comparable coverage benefit in the target coverage area. 

About TeleMtn Engineering: 

TeleMtn Engineering is a professional engineering firm headquartered in Nathrop, CO.  

TeleMtn specializes in providing engineering services to the wireless telecommunications 

industry.  TeleMtn has extensive expertise in Radio Frequency engineering and network 

planning as well as in physical site design and drafting.   

About the author 

John Keating is a former co-owner of TeleMtn Engineering and a professional engineer with 

over 25 years of experience, engineering and evaluating commercial wireless networks.  John 

holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Electrical Engineering from the University of Colorado. 

11/02/2023

99

Item 5.



Spanish Valley 
Tower Analysis

Prepared by: 
TeleMtn Engineering
PO Box 1453
Salida, CO 81201

100

Item 5.



Stated Coverage Goals 

• Improved indoor coverage in Spanish Valley area

• Improved coverage for emergency use; E-911 and associated caller location 
accuracy.

• Improved capacity in Spanish Valley and Moab

• Improved coverage along US-191 south of Spanish Valley, into San Juan 
County.

101

Item 5.



Analysis Background Details 
• Coverage predictions were created using an industry-standard design tool, Atoll 3.5.

• Atoll’s Standard Prediction Model was used, with slope, diffraction, and clutter loss 
parameters tuned for the environment.

• The terrain and land use/land clutter resolution used was 30m.

• All site predictions are based on three-sector designs with antennas oriented so as to 
maximize the coverage in the desired area.

• The coverage predictions depict LTE coverage in the AWS band (~2100MHz). 

• The coverage thresholds depicted are typical of those used by leading wireless providers 
for planning highly reliable voice and data service in typical settings (in-building, in-vehicle 
and outdoor).

102

Item 5.



Coverage Threshold Details 
• Minimum required signal strength: In general, a signal level (RSRP) of -110dBm is 

considered necessary to maintain a reliable connection to an LTE network.

• Outdoor coverage threshold:  Due to blockage from trees, buildings, terrain, multipath 
interference, etc., adding a 5dB margin increases the probability that the connection can be 
maintained in a variety of settings. The resultant outdoor signal threshold is -105dBm.

• In-vehicle coverage threshold:  In-vehicle use is subject to the same fading characteristics 
as outdoor coverage and also by other unique factors such as the loss experienced as the 
signal passes through the vehicle, and by fast fade losses while traveling at speed. In all, 
these fading loss can vary from 8dB to 25dB, but here is assumed to be 15dB in combination 
with the vehicle loss. This yields an in-vehicle threshold of -95dBm (-110dBm + 15dB)

• In-building coverage threshold:  Using a wireless device while inside a structure subjects 
the path to losses associated with the signal passing through one or more walls.  In general, 
it is assumed that a typical wall will attenuate the strength of the outside signal by 10dB. 
Therefore, assuming the signal will pass through two walls, the indoor signal will have 
experienced a loss of 20dB.  Adding in our standard “outdoor” fade margin of 5dB yields an 
in-building threshold of -85dBm (-110dBm + 25dB + 5dB).

103

Item 5.



Evaluation of Towers Within Seven Miles of 
Proposed Site

• Tower #1 - AT&T/Crown Castle tower 80’ (38.5394722N 109.512W)

• Tower is too close to an existing Verizon site and thus would introduce interference.

• Available height is too low, and distance to target coverage area is too great, to provide 
required improvements in Spanish Valley area

• Location can be difficult to differentiate from existing Verizon tower in coverage maps 
shown as they are less than 0.1mi from one another

• Tower #2 - Existing Verizon tower 62’ (38.5398306N 109.512106W)

• Configuration (antennas, radios, etc.) depicted is optimized for coverage and performance

• Modifications that would significantly improve coverage in Spanish Valley are not feasible 
given the distance to the target coverage area and the site’s relatively short height.  See 
discussion on page 7.

• Tower #3 - Sprint tower 80’ (38.570275N 109.5279472W)

• Tower is located farther away from Spanish Valley area than the nearest Verizon tower

• Due to being located farther away, even if Verizon could go at a significantly increased 
elevation the tower would cause interference and degrade existing coverage.

104

Item 5.



Other Towers Within Seven Miles (cont’d) 
• Tower # 4 - Grand County MS 50’  (38.56723333N 109.5473833W)

• Tower is located farther away from Spanish Valley area than nearest existing Verizon tower 
and does not improve signal levels in Spanish Valley

• Due to being located farther away, even if Verizon could go at an increased elevation the 
tower, interference caused by overlapping coverage would degrade existing coverage

• Tower #5 - Search and Rescue tower 60’ (38.533574N 109.510094W)

• Available height is too low, and distance to target coverage area is too great to improve 
service in Spanish Valley area.

• It is doubtful that the tower can structurally support Verizon’s equipment

105

Item 5.



A Note on Tower Modifications 

• Holding all other factors constant, an increase in antenna height will improve signal reception  at any 
given location within the current coverage area.  However, unless the antenna is currently obstructed 
by nearby trees, buildings or terrain features, and the increase will allow the antenna to clear those 
obstacles, an increase in antenna height (<50%) is generally not going to provide a significant 
extension of the current coverage area.  The reason for this is that signal losses due to increased 
distance from the serving site will offset signal gains from the increase in antenna height.

• For example; increasing the height of Tower #2 by 50% (to ~90’), would result in a gain of received 
signal strength by ~3dB.  If the service area of the modified tower is now expected to double, the 
propagation loss over the extended service area would increase by ~6dB.  For this reason, modest 
increases in antenna height generally result in performance improvements within the original 
coverage area, rather than a significant increase in the extent of the coverage area. Note that the 
coverage thresholds shown are in 10dB increments.

• Tower increases are typically done to accommodate new tenants such that the new tenant can locate 
their antenna with enough clearance from current tenants to allow for independent operation, and a 
comparable service area, rather than an expansion of an established coverage area.

106

Item 5.



Summary of Analysis 

The propagation analysis included in this report shows that the proposed site 
will provide significant improvements to wireless service in Spanish Valley, as 
well as along US-191 south into San Juan County, mitigating existing coverage 
gaps in the vicinity. 

None of the existing site locations evaluated can provide the same level of 
coverage improvement, nor will any of them meet the stated coverage goals, 
or close existing gaps in service to any significant degree.

The designed height of the proposed tower is necessary to provide the needed 
service and to allow for additional future  tenants.

107

Item 5.



Existing Towers within 7 mi of Proposed Site 

108

Item 5.



Current Verizon Coverage (inc Tower #2) 

109

Item 5.



Verizon Coverage w/Proposed Site 

110

Item 5.



Current Coverage w/Tower #1 “AT&T/CCI” 

111

Item 5.



Current Coverage w/Tower #3 “Sprint” 

112

Item 5.



Current Coverage w/Tower #4 “Grand Co MS” 

113

Item 5.



Current Coverage w/Tower #5 “SAR” 

114

Item 5.



National Health Interview Survey Early Release Program 
N ATION AL CEN TER FOR H EA LTH  STAT IST ICS  

Wireless Substitution: Early Release of Estimates from the 
National Health Interview Survey, July-December 2022 

Stephen J. Blumberg, Ph.D., and Julian V. Luke 
Division of Health Interview Statistics, National Center for Health Statistics 

Overview 
Since 2007, the National Health 

Interview Survey (NHIS) Early Release 
Program has regularly released 
preliminary estimates of the percentages 
of adults and children living in homes with 
only wireless telephones (also known as 
cellular telephones, cell phones, or mobile 
phones). These estimates are the most up-
to-date estimates available from the 
federal government concerning the size 
and characteristics of this population. 

Estimates in this report are based on 
the second six months of 2022. During 
this time period, 72.6% of adults and 
81.9% of children lived in wireless-only 
households. 

NHIS data can also be used to 
estimate the percentage of adults who live 
in wireless-only households and have their 
own wireless telephone (wireless-only 
adults). For July-December 2022, 71.7% 
of adults were wireless-only adults. 
Demographic subgroups with the highest 
percentages of wireless-only adults include 
adults aged 25–29 (87.6%) and 30-34 
(88.4%) (Figure), and adults renting their 
homes (85.3%). 

NHIS Early Release 
Program 

This report is published as part of the 
NHIS Early Release Program. Twice each 
year, the National Center for Health 
Statistics (NCHS) releases selected 
estimates of telephone coverage for the 
civilian noninstitutionalized U.S. 
population based on data from NHIS, 
along with comparable estimates from 
NHIS for the previous 2 years. The 
estimates are based on in-person 
interviews that are conducted throughout 
the year to collect information on health 

status, health-related behaviors, and 
health care access and utilization. The 
survey also includes information about 
household telephones and whether 
anyone in the household has a wireless 
telephone. 

To provide access to the most recent 
information from NHIS, estimates using 
the July–December 2022 data are being 
released prior to final data editing and 
final weighting. These estimates should be 
considered preliminary. Estimates 
produced using the final data files may 
differ slightly from those presented here. 

Background 
Many health surveys, political polls, 

and other types of research are conducted 
using random-digit-dial (RDD) telephone 
surveys. Most survey research 
organizations include wireless telephone 

numbers when conducting RDD surveys. 
If they did not, the exclusion of 
households with only wireless telephones 
(along with the small proportion of 
households that have no telephone 
service) could bias results. This bias— 
known as coverage bias—could exist if 
there are differences between people with 
and without landline telephones for the 
substantive variables of interest. 

Since 2003, NHIS has asked 
respondents about landlines and wireless 
telephones in their homes. Compared with 
adults living in landline households, adults 
living in wireless-only households are 
more likely to be people who smoke 
cigarettes and people who had at least one 
heavy drinking day in the past year. Adults 
living in wireless-only households are also 
less likely to have health insurance 
coverage, less likely to have a usual place 
to go for medical care, less likely to have 

Figure. Percentages of wireless-only adults and of children living in households with only 
wireless telephone service, by age group: United States, July–December 2022 

Percent 
100 

87.6 88.4 90 83.3 81.9 78.8 

Under 18 18-24 25-29 30-34 35-44 45-64 65 and over 
Age group (years) 

NOTES: Wireless-only adults are adults who live in households with only wireless telephone service and have their own wireless telephone. 
SOURCE: National Center for Health Statistics, National Health Interview Survey. 

 

          

    

  
   

    
    

 
 

 

 
 

  
   

 
 

   
 

    
  

 
  

  
   

  

  
  

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

   
  

  
   

  
  

 
 

 
  

 
  

 
 

 
 

   
 

  

  
  

 
 

  
 

 
  

 
   

 
   

   

  
  

  
  

  

 
  

  

   
   

  
   

   
  

        
    

         
     

80 

70 

60 

50 

40 

30 

20 

10 

0 

71.2 

47.8 

P a g e  | 1 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services ● Centers for Disease Control and Prevention ● National Center for Health Statistics ● Released 5/2023 
115

Item 5.



     

            

 
 

  
   
   

 
  

  
  

  
    

   
  

  
 

  
 

  

 
 

  
    

    
   

   
   

 
   

   

  
   

 
 

   
   

  
 

  
    

  
 

 
  

   
  

 
  

   
   

  
  

 
   

 
 

  
  

 
  

  
 

  

   
 

   
   

 
    

 

  
 

 
 

 
  

 
    

   
   

 
 

  
 

 
   

   
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

  
  

 

 
 

   
 

     
 

 

 
  

  
   

   
 

 

  
  

 
 

    
 

   
 

  
   

  
 

   
  

 
  

  
  

   
  

 
  

 
   

  
   

 
    

  
  

 
   

 
 

 

 
  

Wireless Substitution: Early Release of Estimates from the National Health Interview Survey, July-December 2022 

received an influenza vaccination in the 
past year, and more likely to have 
experienced financial barriers to care. 
Previous Early Release Program reports 
based on data from 2003-2018 include 
additional details about these health-
related differences between people with 
and without landline telephones. 

Because of these differences, the 
potential for coverage bias remains a real 
threat to RDD health surveys that do not 
include sufficient representation of 
households with only wireless telephones. 
NCHS continues to publish estimates of 
the size and characteristics of this 
population so that survey research 
organizations can evaluate whether they 
have appropriately included this 
population in their telephone surveys. 

Methods 
NHIS randomly selects one “sample 

adult” aged 18 years or older and one 
“sample child” aged 17 years or younger (if 
any children live in the household) from 
each household following a brief initial 
interview that identifies everyone who 
usually lives or stays in the household. 
Information about the sample adult is 
collected from the sample adults 
themselves unless they are physically or 
mentally unable to do so, in which case a 
knowledgeable proxy can answer for the 
sample adult. Information about the 
sample child is collected from a parent or 
adult who is knowledgeable about and 
responsible for the health care of the 
sample child. This respondent may or may 
not also be the sample adult. 

To determine whether the sample 
adult or child lived in a household with a 
landline telephone, the respondent was 
asked if there was “at least one phone 
inside your home that is currently working 
and is not a cell phone.” To avoid possible 
confusion with cordless landline 
telephones, the word “wireless” was not 
used in the survey. This question was 
asked only once, in whichever interview 
(sample adult or sample child) came first. 

Sample adults are also asked whether 
they “have a working cell phone,” and if 
not, whether they “live with anyone who 
has a working cell phone.” This approach 
permits the identification of adults living 
in wireless-only households (that is, 

households without landlines within 
which at least one household member has 
a working cell phone) and of wireless-only 
adults (that is, adults who live in a 
wireless-only household and have their 
own cell phone). Respondents for sample 
children are only asked if the child lives 
“with anyone who has a working cell 
phone,” and only if the wireless status of 
the household is not yet known from the 
sample adult interview. 

An additional question is included 
for sample adults who have a cell phone 
and live in households with landline 
telephones. The sample adult is asked to 
consider “all the telephone calls that you 
answer” and to report whether “all or 
almost all [are] on your cell phones, some 
[are] on your cell phone and some on your 
home phone, or very few or none [are] on 
your cell phones.” This question permits 
the identification of “wireless-mostly” 
adults—defined as adults with both 
landline and cellular telephones who 
answer all or almost all calls on cell 
phones. Landline-mostly adults and dual-
users can be similarly identified. 

NHIS uses sampling weights to 
produce representative national 
estimates. The base weight is equal to the 
inverse of the probability of selection of 
the sample address. These weights are 
adjusted for household and person-level 
nonresponse using multilevel models 
predictive of response propensity. 
Nonresponse-adjusted weights are further 
calibrated to U.S. Census Bureau 
population projections and American 
Community Survey (ACS) one-year 
estimates for age, sex, race and ethnicity, 
educational attainment, housing tenure, 
Census division, and Metropolitan 
Statistical Area status. 

Point estimates and 95% confidence 
intervals were calculated using SUDAAN 
software (RTI International, Research 
Triangle Park, NC) to account for the 
complex sample design of NHIS. All 
estimates shown meet the NCHS 
standards of reliability as specified in 
National Center for Health Statistics Data 
Presentation Standards for Proportions. 

Differences between percentages 
were evaluated using two-sided 
significance tests at the 0.05 level. All 
differences discussed are statistically 
significant unless otherwise noted. Lack of 
comment regarding the difference 

between any two estimates does not 
necessarily mean that the difference was 
tested and found to be not significant. 
Because of small sample sizes, estimates 
based on less than 1 year of data may have 
large confidence intervals, and caution 
should be used in interpreting such 
estimates. 

Impact of the COVID-19 
Pandemic 

Additional caution is warranted 
when interpreting telephone status 
estimates from 2020. Due to the COVID-
19 pandemic, NHIS data collection 
switched to a telephone-only mode 
beginning on March 19, 2020. Personal 
visits to households resumed in selected 
areas in July 2020 and in all areas of the 
country in September 2020. However, 
contact with households was still 
attempted by telephone first, and a 
majority of interviews were completed by 
telephone. Additionally, starting in August 
and continuing through the end of 
December, a subsample of adult 
respondents who completed an NHIS 
interview in 2019 were recontacted by 
telephone and asked to participate again, 
completing the 2020 NHIS questionnaire. 
Estimates for 2020 in Table 1 are based 
on data from both samples. 

Response rates were lower and 
respondent characteristics were different 
in April through December 2020. The 
weighted 2020 sample underrepresented 
adults living alone and adults with family 
income below the federal poverty level. 
The sample also underrepresented 
wireless-only adults, whereas adults living 
in households with both landline and 
wireless telephones were overrepresented. 
Moreover, phoneless households (those 
with neither wireless nor landline 
telephones) generally could not be 
interviewed in Quarter 2, 2020 or as part 
of the reinterviewed sample. For these 
reasons, caution should be used in 
interpreting differences observed in 
estimates between 2020 and other time 
periods, particularly for estimates of 
people living in phoneless households. 

The “telephone first” data collection 
approach that began in July 2020 ended in 
April 2021. Pre-pandemic interviewing 
procedures, with initial contact attempts 

P a g e  | 2 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services ● Centers for Disease Control and Prevention ● National Center for Health Statistics ● Released 5/2023 
116

Item 5.

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis/erwirelesssubs.htm
https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/series/sr_02/sr02_175.pdf
https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/series/sr_02/sr02_175.pdf


     

            

  
    

  
  

   

 
 
   

 
   

  
  

 
   

  
   

 
  

 
 

   
 

   
  

   
   

  
  

 
 

 
 

   
  

 
  

  
 

  
  

 
 

   
  

  
 

  
  

   
 

  
 

  
   

 

   
 

  
  

   
 

 
  

  

  
 

   
 

 

   
 

 
  

 
 

  
 

  
  

 
  

 

 
 

 
  

  

 
    

 
  

  
 

  
 

 
   

  
  

 

  
    

   
 
  

 
 
   

   
  
  

  
 

 
  

 

   

 

 
 

 
 

  
   

  

Wireless Substitution: Early Release of Estimates from the National Health Interview Survey, July-December 2022 

by personal visit, resumed in May 2021. 
However, a majority of NHIS interviews in 
2021 and 2022 were still completed by 
telephone rather than in-person (52% in 
July-December 2022). 

Household Telephone 
Status 

From July through December 2022, 
information on household telephone 
status was obtained for 13,385 civilian 
adults aged 18 and over and 3,768 
children under age 18. In the second six 
months of 2022, 72.6% of adults (about 
186 million) and 81.9% of children (nearly 
60 million) lived in households that did 
not have a landline telephone but did have 
at least one wireless telephone (Table 1). 

The percentages of adults and 
children living in wireless-only households 
have been generally increasing since 2003. 
Consistent with that trend, there was also 
a statistically significant increase (3.9 
percentage points) in the past 12 
months—that is, from the second 6 
months of 2021 to the second 6 months of 
2022—in the percentages of adults living 
in wireless-only households. Across that 
same time period, an increase (2.8 
percentage points) was also observed for 
children. 

Wireless-only Adults 
Seven in 10 adults were wireless-only 

(71.7%, 183 million); that is, they 
personally had a wireless telephone and 
lived in a household that did not have a 
landline. The percentage of adults who 
were wireless-only is shown, by selected 
demographic characteristics, in Table 2. 
Confidence intervals for these percentages 
are shown in Table 3. For July–December 
2022: 

 Nearly nine in 10 adults aged 25–29 
(87.6%) and aged 30-34 (88.4%) were 
wireless-only (Figure). The 
percentage of adults who were 
wireless-only decreased as age 
increased beyond 35 years: 83.3% for 
those 35–44; 71.2% for those 45–64; 
and 47.8% for those 65 and over. 

 Hispanic adults (80.0%) were more 
likely than non-Hispanic Asian 
(73.0%), non-Hispanic Black (69.5%), 
or non-Hispanic White (69.5%) adults 
to be wireless-only. 

 Men (72.4%) were more likely than 
women (71.1%) to be wireless-only. 

 Adults with family incomes below the 
federal poverty threshold (77.8%) and 
adults with family incomes of 100% 
to less than 200% of the federal 
poverty threshold (74.9%) were more 
likely than adults with higher family 
incomes (70.8%) to be wireless-only. 

 Adults living in the Midwest (73.8%), 
South (74.1%), and West (76.0%) 
were more likely than those living in 
the Northeast (58.0%) to be wireless-
only. 

 More than four in five adults living in 
rented homes (85.3%) were wireless-
only. This percentage is higher than 
the percentage for adults living in 
homes owned by a household member 
(66.2%). 

Table 2 also includes estimates of the 
percentage of adults who were wireless-
mostly, landline-mostly, dual users, 
landline-only, and phoneless, by selected 
demographic characteristics. Confidence 
intervals for these percentages are shown 
in Table 3. 

Other NHIS Early Release 
Program Products 

This report is published as part of the 
NHIS Early Release Program. Earlier 
reports on wireless substitution are at 
https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis/erwireless 
subs.htm. 

The prevalence of adults and children 
living in wireless-only households varies 
across states. For more information about 
prevalence estimates at the state level, see 

 NCHS. Modeled estimates (with 
standard errors) of the percent 
distribution of personal telephone 
status for adults aged 18 and over, by 
state: United States, 2020. December 
2022. Available from: 
https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhis/ 

earlyrelease/Wireless_state_202212.p 
df. 

In addition to these products, 
preliminary microdata files containing 
selected NHIS variables are produced as 
part of the Early Release Program. The 
telephone service use variables presented 
in this report are included in those 
microdata files. Analysts can access these 
files through the NCHS Research Data 
Centers (https://www.cdc.gov/rdc/) 
without having to wait for the final annual 
NHIS microdata files to be released. 

For more information about NHIS 
and the NHIS Early Release Program, or to 
find other Early Release Program 
products, see 

 NHIS home page at 
https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis.htm. 

 Early Release Program home page at 
https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis/relea 
ses.htm. 

Suggested Citation 
Blumberg SJ, Luke JV. Wireless 
substitution: Early release of estimates 
from the National Health Interview Survey, 
July-December 2022. National Center for 
Health Statistics. May 2023. DOI: 
https://doi.org/10.15620/cdc:127524. 

P a g e  | 3 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services ● Centers for Disease Control and Prevention ● National Center for Health Statistics ● Released 5/2023 
117

Item 5.

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis/erwirelesssubs.htm
https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis/erwirelesssubs.htm
https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhis/earlyrelease/Wireless_state_202212.pdf
https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhis/earlyrelease/Wireless_state_202212.pdf
https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhis/earlyrelease/Wireless_state_202212.pdf
https://www.cdc.gov/rdc/
https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis.htm
https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis/releases.htm
https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis/releases.htm
https://doi.org/10.15620/cdc:127524


     

           

  

 
  

 
 

     
 

   
         

         
          

             
          

             
          

             
          

             
          

             
         

         
          

             
          

             
          

              
          

             
          

             
         

   
 

  
   

        
              

     
     

  
  

 

  

Wireless Substitution: Early Release of Estimates from the National Health Interview Survey, July-December 2022 

Table 1. Percent distribution of household telephone status for adults and children: United States, 2020-2022 

Date of interview 
Number of people 

(unweighted) 
Wireless-only 

household 
Landline with 

wireless 
Landline-only 

household1 Phoneless 
Landline with 

unknown wireless 
Wireless with 

unknown landline Total 

Adults 
July–December 20202 17,028 65.8 31.9 1.8 0.4 0.1 0.1 100.0 

95% confidence interval … 64.69-66.81 30.88-32.95 1.60-2.08 0.28-0.52 0.03-0.12 0.04-0.14 … 
January–June 20212 13,901 68.0 29.3 1.9 0.5 0.0 0.1 100.0 

95% confidence interval … 66.70-69.34 28.04-30.66 1.66-2.23 0.44-0.69 0.01-0.05 0.09-0.22 … 
July–December 2021 14,629 68.7 28.9 1.7 0.6 0.0 0.1 100.0 

95% confidence interval … 67.54-69.81 27.82-29.97 1.48-2.00 0.47-0.75 0.00-0.05 0.05-0.16 … 
January–June 2022 13,002 70.7 27.1 1.6 0.4 0.0 0.1 100.0 

95% confidence interval … 69.47-71.97 25.88-28.36 1.41-1.89 0.31-0.59 0.01-0.09 0.02-0.17 … 
July–December 2022 13,385 72.6 25.4 1.3 0.6 0.0 0.1 100.0 

95% confidence interval … 71.55-73.67 24.34-26.44 1.11-1.50 0.46-0.75 0.01-0.06 0.04-0.19 … 

Children 
July–December 20202 1,984 75.5 23.1 0.6 0.6 - - 100.0 

95% confidence interval … 72.90-77.91 20.84-25.55 0.29-1.37 0.23-1.80 - - … 
January–June 20212 4,016 79.1 19.8 0.4 0.7 0.0 0.0 100.0 

95% confidence interval … 77.27-80.78 18.12-21.61 0.17-0.91 0.42-1.05 0.00-0.04 0.01-0.23 … 
July–December 2021 4,211 79.1 19.6 0.4 0.8 – 0.0 100.0 

95% confidence interval … 77.45-80.73 18.05-21.35 0.20-0.65 0.55-1.22 – 0.01-0.17 … 
January–June 2022 3,585 81.7 17.3 0.5 0.5 – 0.1 100.0 

95% confidence interval … 80.05-83.31 15.70-18.93 0.22-1.02 0.31-0.74 – 0.01-0.31 … 
July–December 2022 3,768 81.9 16.9 0.3 0.9 – 0.0 100.0 

95% confidence interval … 80.08-83.64 15.34-18.64 0.11-0.60 0.52-1.41 – 0.00-0.12 … 

0.0 Quantity more than zero but less than 0.05. 
… Category not applicable. 
– Quantity zero. 
1Landline-only refers to households with a landline telephone in which no residents have a working cell phone. In reports based on 2003-2018 data, this category was labeled as “landline without wireless.” 
2Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, NHIS data collection switched to a telephone-only mode beginning on March 19, 2020. Personal visits resumed in all areas in September 2020. However, contact with households was still attempted by telephone first, and a 
majority of interviews were completed by telephone. Additionally, from August-December 2020, a subsample of adult respondents who completed an NHIS interview in 2019 were recontacted by telephone and asked to participate again. Response rates 
were lower and respondent characteristics were different in April–December 2020. Differences observed in estimates between 2020 and other time periods—particularly estimates of people living in phoneless households—may have been impacted by these 
differences in respondent characteristics. The “telephone first” data collection approach that began in July 2020 continued through April 2021. Pre-pandemic interviewing procedures, with initial contact attempts by personal visit, resumed in May 2021. 

NOTE: Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population. 
SOURCE: National Center for Health Statistics, National Health Interview Survey. 

P a g  e  | 4 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services ● Centers for Disease Control and Prevention ● National Center for Health Statistics ● Released 5/2023 
118

Item 5.



     

           

      

  
 

  
 

  
 

   
         

          
         

         
         
         
         
         
         

         
         

         
         

         
         
         

         
         

         
         

         
         

         
         

         
         

         
         

 
         

         
         

         
         

         
         

         
         

         
         

         
         

         
 

   
        

  

Wireless Substitution: Early Release of Estimates from the National Health Interview Survey, July-December 2022 

Table 2. Percent distribution of personal telephone status for adults, by selected demographic characteristics: United States, July-December 2022 

Demographic characteristic 
Wireless-only 

adults 
Wireless-mostly 

adults Dual-users 
Landline-mostly 

adults 
Landline-only 

adults 
Phoneless 

adults Unknown1 Total 

Total 71.7 15.2 6.1 3.2 2.1 1.3 0.4 100.0 

Age (years) 
18–24 78.8 16.0 2.1 0.4 0.3 1.9 0.5 100.0 
25–29 87.6 8.2 1.5 0.3 0.6 1.4 0.5 100.0 
30–34 88.4 8.9 1.0 0.1 0.1 1.1 0.4 100.0 
35–44 83.3 12.0 2.1 0.4 0.2 1.2 0.8 100.0 
45–64 71.2 18.5 6.2 1.7 1.2 0.9 0.3 100.0 
65 and over 47.8 17.4 14.6 11.4 6.9 1.7 0.3 100.0 

Race and ethnicity 
Hispanic or Latino, any race(s) 80.0 11.6 3.5 0.9 1.5 1.7 0.8 100.0 
Asian, single race2 73.0 16.1 5.1 1.1 1.0 3.0 0.7 100.0 
Black, single race2 69.5 17.9 5.7 2.4 2.2 1.9 0.3 100.0 
White, single race2 69.5 15.7 7.0 4.3 2.3 0.8 0.3 100.0 
Other and multiple races2 77.5 12.5 3.6 1.7 1.3 3.1 0.4 100.0 

Sex 
Male 72.4 15.7 5.3 2.6 2.0 1.4 0.6 100.0 
Female 71.1 14.7 6.8 3.8 2.1 1.2 0.3 100.0 

Education 
Some high school or less 72.5 10.5 5.1 3.4 4.0 3.9 0.5 100.0 
High school graduate or GED3 70.5 13.6 6.3 4.2 3.1 1.8 0.5 100.0 
Some post-high school, no degree 72.8 15.1 6.0 3.3 1.7 0.6 0.4 100.0 
4-year college degree or higher 71.5 17.8 6.3 2.3 1.0 0.7 0.5 100.0 

Family income relative to 
federal poverty threshold4 

Less than 100% 77.8 9.0 2.8 2.4 3.8 3.7 0.6 100.0 
100% to less than 200% 74.9 11.0 4.2 4.1 3.6 2.1 0.3 100.0 
200% or greater 70.8 17.0 6.8 3.0 1.4 0.7 0.3 100.0 

Geographic region5 

Northeast 58.0 22.6 9.8 5.2 2.5 0.8 1.1 100.0 
Midwest 73.8 13.4 5.5 3.7 2.1 1.0 0.5 100.0 
South 74.1 14.1 5.8 2.7 1.9 1.2 0.3 100.0 
West 76.0 13.0 4.3 2.3 1.9 2.1 0.3 100.0 

Metropolitan statistical area status 
Metropolitan 71.8 15.8 6.0 2.9 1.8 1.2 0.4 100.0 
Not metropolitan 71.4 11.1 6.6 5.1 3.9 1.5 0.4 100.0 

See footnotes at end of table. 

P a g  e  | 5 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services ● Centers for Disease Control and Prevention ● National Center for Health Statistics ● Released 5/2023 
119

Item 5.



     

           

    

  
 

  
 

  
 

   
         

         
         

         
         

         

 
 

        
 

         
       

  
    

 
  

   
        

         
  

          
               

          
 

     
   

 
  

Wireless Substitution: Early Release of Estimates from the National Health Interview Survey, July-December 2022 

Table 2. Percent distribution of personal telephone status for adults, by selected demographic characteristics: United States, July-December 2022—Continued 

Demographic characteristic 
Wireless-only 

adults 
Wireless-mostly 

adults Dual-users 
Landline-mostly 

adults 
Landline-only 

adults 
Phoneless 

adults Unknown1 Total 

Home ownership status 
Owned or being bought 66.2 18.1 7.7 4.2 2.4 1.0 0.4 100.0 
Renting 85.3 8.2 2.0 0.9 1.4 1.8 0.5 100.0 
Other arrangement 66.8 14.7 6.6 ** 2.5 ** 0.8 100.0 

Number of adults in survey sample 
(unweighted) 

9,240 1,963 930 614 414 176 48 13,385 

** Estimate does not meet NCHS standards of reliability as specified in National Center for Health Statistics Data Presentation Standards for Proportions (available from: https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/series/sr_02/sr02_175.pdf). 
– Quantity zero. 
1Unknown includes adults with either unknown landline, unknown wireless, or unknown frequency-of-use status (for adults with both landline and wireless telephones). Adults with both unknown landline and unknown wireless status are excluded from the 
analysis. 
2Race groups are non-Hispanic. 
3GED is General Educational Development high school equivalency diploma. 
4Based on family income and family size using the U.S. Census Bureau’s poverty thresholds. Early Release estimates stratified by poverty status are based on reported income only and may differ from similar estimates produced later that are based on both 
reported and imputed income. Family income relative to the federal poverty threshold was unknown for 11.0% of adults in these analyses. NCHS imputes income when income is unknown, but the imputed income file is not available until the annual NHIS 
microdata are released. 
5In the geographic classification of the U.S. population, states are grouped into the following four regions used by the U.S. Census Bureau: Northeast includes Connecticut, Maine, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New York, Pennsylvania, Rhode 
Island, and Vermont; Midwest includes Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Michigan, Minnesota, Missouri, Nebraska, North Dakota, Ohio, South Dakota, and Wisconsin; South includes Alabama, Arkansas, Delaware, District of Columbia, Florida, Georgia, Kentucky, 
Louisiana, Maryland, Mississippi, North Carolina, Oklahoma, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, Virginia, and West Virginia; and West includes Alaska, Arizona, California, Colorado, Hawaii, Idaho, Montana, Nevada, New Mexico, Oregon, Utah, Washington, and 
Wyoming. 
NOTES: Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population. Korn and Graubard 95% confidence intervals for these estimates are presented in Table 3. 
SOURCE: National Center for Health Statistics, National Health Interview Survey, July-December 2022. 

P a g  e  | 6 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services ● Centers for Disease Control and Prevention ● National Center for Health Statistics ● Released 5/2023 
120

Item 5.

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/series/sr_02/sr02_175.pdf


     

           

  

  
 

  
 

  
 

   
         

             
         

         
             
              
              
             
             

          
         

         
             

             
             
             

          
         

         
             

             
         

         
             

             
             

             
         

 
 

        

              
         

             
         

          
             

             
            

             
         

         
             

              
        

           
  

Wireless Substitution: Early Release of Estimates from the National Health Interview Survey, July-December 2022 

Table 3. Korn and Graubard 95% confidence intervals for percent distributions in Table 2 

Demographic characteristic 
Wireless-only 

adults 
Wireless-mostly 

adults Dual-users 
Landline-mostly 

adults 
Landline-only 

adults 
Phoneless 

adults Unknown1 Total 

Total 70.6-72.8 14.3-16.0 5.6-6.6 2.9-3.6 1.8-2.3 1.0-1.6 0.3-0.6 … 

Age (years) 
18–24 75.1-82.3 12.9-19.5 1.1-3.7 0.1-1.1 0.0-1.1 0.9-3.5 0.1-1.2 … 
25–29 84.7-90.2 6.1-10.8 0.4-3.5 0.0-1.4 0.1-1.6 0.6-2.5 0.1-1.4 … 
30–34 85.6-90.8 6.8-11.4 0.4-2.3 0.0-0.5 0.0-0.5 0.6-2.0 0.1-1.0 … 
35–44 81.4-85.2 10.4-13.7 1.5-2.8 0.2-0.8 0.1-0.5 0.7-2.0 0.4-1.7 … 
45–64 69.5-73.0 16.9-20.1 5.4-7.0 1.3-2.2 0.9-1.6 0.6-1.2 0.1-0.6 … 
65 and over 45.9-49.7 16.2-18.7 13.3-15.9 10.3-12.6 6.1-7.7 1.3-2.1 0.1-0.5 … 

Race and ethnicity 
Hispanic or Latino, any race(s) 78.1-81.8 10.0-13.3 2.7-4.5 0.5-1.5 1.0-2.2 1.0-2.8 0.3-1.6 … 
Asian, single race2 69.0-76.7 12.7-20.0 3.6-6.9 0.5-2.1 0.4-2.0 1.8-4.6 0.2-1.8 … 
Black, single race2 66.7-72.2 15.8-20.1 4.3-7.4 1.7-3.4 1.5-3.1 1.2-2.8 0.1-0.9 … 
White, single race2 68.2-70.8 14.6-16.8 6.4-7.7 3.9-4.8 2.0-2.7 0.6-1.0 0.2-0.5 … 
Other and multiple races2 72.0-82.4 8.0-18.2 1.8-6.3 0.5-4.2 0.3-3.7 1.3-6.2 0.0-2.0 … 

Sex 
Male 71.1-73.7 14.5-16.9 4.8-5.9 2.2-3.1 1.7-2.4 1.0-1.8 0.3-0.9 … 
Female 69.5-72.6 13.5-15.9 6.0-7.7 3.3-4.3 1.8-2.5 0.9-1.5 0.2-0.5 … 

Education 
Some high school or less 69.9-75.1 8.8-12.4 3.8-6.7 2.4-4.8 3.0-5.3 2.6-5.6 0.1-1.3 … 
High school graduate or GED3 68.7-72.3 12.2-15.2 5.4-7.2 3.5-4.9 2.5-3.7 1.3-2.6 0.2-0.8 … 
Some post-high school, no degree 71.0-74.6 13.6-16.8 5.2-6.8 2.8-4.0 1.3-2.2 0.4-1.0 0.2-0.7 … 
4-year college degree or higher 69.8-73.2 16.3-19.3 5.5-7.3 1.8-2.9 0.7-1.3 0.4-0.9 0.3-0.7 … 

Family income relative to 
federal poverty threshold4 

Less than 100% 74.8-80.6 7.1-11.1 1.7-4.1 1.6-3.4 2.8-5.0 2.5-5.3 0.2-1.5 … 
100% to less than 200% 72.7-77.0 9.2-13.0 3.3-5.2 3.2-5.1 2.9-4.5 1.4-3.0 0.1-0.7 … 
200% or greater 69.5-72.0 16.0-18.1 6.1-7.5 2.6-3.4 1.2-1.7 0.5-1.0 0.2-0.6 … 

Geographic region5 

Northeast 55.1-60.8 20.9-24.4 8.2-11.7 3.9-6.8 1.9-3.3 0.3-1.6 0.5-1.9 … 
Midwest 72.2-75.4 11.6-15.4 4.7-6.4 3.0-4.4 1.6-2.7 0.5-1.7 0.2-0.9 … 
South 72.1-76.0 12.7-15.6 5.1-6.6 2.2-3.2 1.5-2.3 0.8-1.5 0.1-0.5 … 
West 74.3-77.7 11.4-14.8 3.6-5.1 1.8-2.9 1.5-2.5 1.4-3.0 0.0-0.9 … 

Metropolitan statistical area status 
Metropolitan 70.6-72.9 14.9-16.7 5.5-6.6 2.6-3.3 1.5-2.0 1.0-1.6 0.3-0.7 … 
Not metropolitan 68.4-74.2 9.0-13.5 5.3-8.1 4.2-6.2 3.0-5.0 1.0-2.3 0.2-0.8 … 

See footnotes at end of table. 

P a g  e  | 7 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services ● Centers for Disease Control and Prevention ● National Center for Health Statistics ● Released 5/2023 
121

Item 5.



     

           

  

  
 

  
 

  
 

   
         

         
             

              
            

         
  

     
 

  
   

       
         

  
             

           
          

 
   

    

 
 

Wireless Substitution: Early Release of Estimates from the National Health Interview Survey, July-December 2022 

Table 3. Korn and Graubard 95% confidence intervals for percent distributions in Table 2—Continued 

Demographic characteristic 
Wireless-only 

adults 
Wireless-mostly 

adults Dual-users 
Landline-mostly 

adults 
Landline-only 

adults 
Phoneless 

adults Unknown1 Total 

Home ownership status 
Owned or being bought 64.7-67.8 17.0-19.3 7.1-8.4 3.7-4.7 2.1-2.7 0.8-1.2 0.2-0.6 … 
Renting 83.8-86.6 7.2-9.4 1.5-2.6 0.7-1.3 1.0-1.8 1.3-2.4 0.2-0.9 … 
Other arrangement 59.1-73.8 10.3-20.1 3.4-11.4 … 1.0-4.9 … 0.0-4.2 … 

… Category not applicable. 
1Unknown includes adults with either unknown landline, unknown wireless, or unknown frequency-of-use status (for adults with both landline and wireless telephones). Adults with both unknown landline and unknown wireless status are excluded from the 
analysis. 
2Race groups are non-Hispanic. 
3GED is General Educational Development high school equivalency diploma. 
4Based on family income and family size using the U.S. Census Bureau’s poverty thresholds. Early Release estimates stratified by poverty status are based on reported income only and may differ from similar estimates produced later that are based on both 
reported and imputed income. Family income relative to the federal poverty threshold was unknown for 11.0% of adults in these analyses. NCHS imputes income when income is unknown, but the imputed income file is not available until the annual NHIS 
microdata are released. 
5In the geographic classification of the U.S. population, states are grouped into the following four regions used by the U.S. Census Bureau: Northeast includes Connecticut, Maine, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New York, Pennsylvania, Rhode 
Island, and Vermont; Midwest includes Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Michigan, Minnesota, Missouri, Nebraska, North Dakota, Ohio, South Dakota, and Wisconsin; South includes Alabama, Arkansas, Delaware, District of Columbia, Florida, Georgia, Kentucky, 
Louisiana, Maryland, Mississippi, North Carolina, Oklahoma, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, Virginia, and West Virginia; and West includes Alaska, Arizona, California, Colorado, Hawaii, Idaho, Montana, Nevada, New Mexico, Oregon, Utah, Washington, and 
Wyoming. 
NOTES: Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population. 
SOURCE: National Center for Health Statistics, National Health Interview Survey, July-December 2022. 

P a g  e  | 8 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services ● Centers for Disease Control and Prevention ● National Center for Health Statistics ● Released 5/2023 
122

Item 5.



 

P a g e  | 1 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services ● Centers for Disease Control and Prevention ● National Center for Health Statistics ● Released 12/2022 

 

National Health Interview Survey Early Release Program
N ATION AL CEN TER FOR H EA LTH STAT IST ICS

Modeled estimates (with standard errors) of the percent distribution of personal telephone status for adults aged 18 and over, by state: 
United States, 2020 

Geographic area 
Wireless-only 

adults  
Wireless-

mostly adults Dual users 
Landline-

mostly adults 
Landline-only 

adults 
Phoneless 

adults Total 

Alabama 68.3 (2.4) 14.9 (2.1) 6.5 (1.1) 4.7 (0.7) 4.4 (0.8) 1.1 100.0 
Alaska 67.9 (2.3) 17.6 (2.2) 7.0 (1.3) 3.1 (0.6) 3.5 (0.8) 1.0 100.0 
Arizona 71.9 (2.1) 15.2 (1.9) 5.6 (1.3) 3.5 (0.6) 2.7 (0.5) 1.0 100.0 
Arkansas 69.9 (2.8) 14.7 (2.0) 4.7 (1.2) 6.1 (1.0) 3.5 (0.9) 1.0 100.0 
California 64.2 (1.4) 19.0 (1.2) 8.9 (0.8) 4.4 (0.3) 2.7 (0.4) 0.7 100.0 
Colorado 71.6 (2.2) 12.5 (1.4) 7.7 (1.3) 4.6 (0.6) 3.1 (0.6) 0.6 100.0 
Connecticut 51.7 (2.6) 26.7 (2.7) 10.3 (1.4) 5.6 (0.7) 5.2 (0.8) 0.6 100.0 
Delaware 53.5 (2.5) 24.8 (2.8) 12.2 (1.9) 6.3 (0.8) 2.7 (0.7) 0.4 100.0 
District of Columbia 63.7 (3.1) 17.9 (3.1) 10.9 (2.1) 4.4 (0.8) 2.5 (0.8) 0.6 100.0 
Florida 65.6 (1.5) 18.3 (1.5) 8.0 (1.0) 3.9 (0.3) 3.2 (0.4) 1.0 100.0 
Georgia 66.0 (1.8) 18.2 (1.7) 9.0 (1.3) 3.6 (0.4) 2.5 (0.5) 0.8 100.0 
Hawaii 54.2 (2.7) 22.9 (3.0) 14.7 (2.2) 4.3 (0.8) 3.4 (0.9) 0.7 100.0 
Idaho 78.6 (2.8) 8.8 (1.7) 5.3 (1.2) 3.9 (0.7) 2.8 (0.8) 0.7 100.0 
Illinois 66.2 (1.8) 18.1 (1.7) 8.3 (1.0) 4.5 (0.4) 2.1 (0.4) 0.8 100.0 
Indiana 69.1 (2.3) 12.6 (1.9) 8.9 (1.4) 4.9 (0.6) 3.4 (0.7) 1.0 100.0 
Iowa 70.2 (2.7) 12.5 (1.8) 7.5 (1.5) 5.3 (0.7) 3.7 (0.8) 0.8 100.0 
Kansas 69.8 (2.3) 13.8 (1.8) 8.2 (1.7) 4.3 (0.8) 3.1 (0.6) 0.8 100.0 
Kentucky 67.9 (2.5) 10.4 (1.6) 8.3 (1.5) 7.5 (0.9) 4.9 (0.9) 1.1 100.0 
Louisiana 69.3 (2.2) 16.1 (2.2) 6.2 (1.4) 3.5 (0.7) 3.9 (0.8) 1.0 100.0 
Maine 55.2 (3.8) 14.0 (2.3) 13.0 (2.4) 10.4 (1.5) 6.2 (1.1) 1.2 100.0 
Maryland 48.5 (2.4) 26.0 (2.4) 14.6 (1.6) 7.0 (0.8) 3.2 (0.7) 0.7 100.0 
Massachusetts 47.2 (2.1) 27.4 (2.2) 14.6 (1.6) 6.0 (0.5) 4.1 (0.7) 0.7 100.0 
Michigan 63.7 (2.1) 14.7 (1.6) 10.0 (1.4) 7.0 (0.7) 4.0 (0.6) 0.6 100.0 
Minnesota 63.8 (2.0) 17.1 (2.0) 8.4 (1.1) 5.7 (0.6) 4.5 (0.8) 0.5 100.0 
Mississippi 75.5 (2.7) 11.3 (2.1) 6.0 (1.4) 3.6 (0.6) 2.3 (0.6) 1.2 100.0 
Missouri 69.8 (1.9) 12.6 (1.7) 9.0 (1.4) 4.7 (0.6) 2.9 (0.6) 0.9 100.0 
Montana 64.6 (3.2) 13.6 (2.2) 8.6 (1.8) 7.6 (1.0) 4.5 (1.0) 1.1 100.0 
Nebraska 67.8 (2.6) 18.3 (2.4) 7.1 (1.4) 3.7 (0.6) 2.4 (0.6) 0.6 100.0 
Nevada 73.4 (2.3) 15.6 (2.3) 5.9 (1.2) 1.6 (0.4) 2.4 (0.6) 1.0 100.0 
New Hampshire 49.9 (2.4) 22.5 (2.8) 13.9 (2.1) 9.1 (1.3) 4.0 (0.8) 0.6 100.0 
New Jersey 48.8 (2.1) 25.8 (2.2) 13.9 (1.7) 6.4 (0.6) 4.4 (0.7) 0.7 100.0 
New Mexico 76.5 (2.7) 12.1 (2.0) 4.8 (1.3) 2.4 (0.6) 3.0 (0.9) 1.2 100.0 
New York 46.7 (1.4) 23.6 (1.4) 15.6 (1.1) 6.9 (0.4) 6.1 (0.6) 0.9 100.0 
North Carolina 64.7 (1.8) 16.7 (1.9) 8.9 (1.2) 5.2 (0.5) 3.8 (0.7) 0.8 100.0 
North Dakota 58.2 (3.5) 17.5 (2.8) 16.4 (2.4) 4.3 (1.0) 3.1 (0.7) 0.5 100.0 
Ohio 65.6 (1.9) 14.4 (1.7) 8.3 (1.2) 7.1 (0.6) 3.7 (0.6) 0.8 100.0 
Oklahoma 77.5 (2.3) 11.5 (2.0) 4.9 (1.0) 2.8 (0.5) 2.6 (0.7) 0.7 100.0 
Oregon 66.6 (2.4) 16.6 (2.2) 6.8 (1.2) 5.5 (0.8) 3.9 (0.8) 0.6 100.0 
Pennsylvania 51.4 (1.7) 20.5 (1.7) 13.1 (1.4) 9.7 (0.6) 4.5 (0.6) 0.9 100.0 
Rhode Island 53.9 (3.0) 21.7 (2.7) 10.6 (1.9) 8.6 (1.0) 4.7 (0.9) 0.6 100.0 
South Carolina 61.9 (2.5) 16.1 (2.2) 9.2 (1.5) 7.7 (0.9) 4.2 (0.8) 0.9 100.0 
South Dakota 71.7 (2.9) 13.8 (1.9) 7.4 (1.6) 1.9 (0.5) 3.9 (0.9) 1.3 100.0 
Tennessee 68.0 (1.9) 13.6 (1.7) 8.3 (1.2) 6.1 (0.5) 2.9 (0.6) 1.1 100.0 
Texas 71.5 (1.3) 16.9 (1.3) 5.8 (0.7) 2.7 (0.3) 2.3 (0.4) 0.8 100.0 
Utah 72.8 (2.4) 15.1 (1.9) 8.2 (1.4) 1.4 (0.4) 1.9 (0.6) 0.6 100.0 
Vermont 51.0 (2.5) 17.1 (2.6) 9.9 (1.6) 11.6 (1.2) 9.3 (1.5) 1.1 100.0 
Virginia 56.4 (1.9) 20.5 (1.7) 10.4 (1.2) 7.7 (0.6) 4.4 (0.7) 0.6 100.0 
Washington 65.0 (1.8) 17.5 (2.0) 10.4 (1.4) 4.1 (0.5) 2.3 (0.5) 0.7 100.0 
West Virginia 63.4 (3.2) 13.3 (2.2) 8.0 (1.8) 9.5 (1.3) 4.4 (1.0) 1.3 100.0 
Wisconsin 62.2 (2.2) 15.5 (1.9) 9.2 (1.0) 8.2 (0.7) 4.2 (0.7) 0.8 100.0 
Wyoming 77.2 (2.3) 12.4 (2.1) 4.4 (1.4) 3.5 (0.8) 2.0 (0.6) 0.6 100.0 

See notes on next page. 

 
 

123

Item 5.



 

P a g e  | 2 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services ● Centers for Disease Control and Prevention ● National Center for Health Statistics ● Released 12/2022 

 

National Health Interview Survey Early Release Program
N ATION AL CEN TER FOR H EA LTH STAT IST ICS

NOTES: Small-area statistical modeling techniques were used to combine National Health Interview Survey (NHIS) data collected from within specific 
geographies (states and some counties) with auxiliary data that are representative of those geographies to produce model-based estimates. Estimates for 
the 50 states and the District of Columbia were modeled using the procedures described in previous National Health Statistics Reports (e.g., 
http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhsr/nhsr039.pdf), with a few modifications. 

• Models were based on three 12-month periods (2018-2020). 

• LASSO regression models (least absolute shrinkage and selection operator) were used to select the best set of covariates for the models. 

• Potential covariates originally drawn from infoUSA.com were dropped in favor of additional covariates from the American Community Survey (ACS) on 
internet and smartphone use. 

• Due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on data collection, the Census Bureau did not release 1-year estimates for the 2020 American Community 
Survey. Therefore, ACS data from 2017-2019 were used as covariates. Data from the 2017 ACS were used as covariates in the model for direct estimates 
derived using data from the 2018 NHIS, 2018 ACS data were used in the model for 2019 NHIS data, and 2019 ACS data were used in the model for 2020 
NHIS data. 

• The proportion of adults living in households with no telephone service (“phoneless adults”) was not modeled. Other proportions were adjusted so that this 
estimate agreed with the 2019 ACS estimate for this proportion. 2020 ACS estimates for this proportion are not available due to the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic on ACS data collection. 

• The variances for the direct estimates were computed using in-house rather than publicly available sample design variables. 

In 2019, the NHIS underwent a questionnaire redesign to better meet the needs of data users. The redesigned NHIS classifies telephone status for adults 
rather than households. The modeled estimates reported here for 2020 are for adults aged 18 and over who are wireless-only, wireless-mostly, dual users, 
landline-mostly, and landline-only instead of adults aged 18 and over living in households that are wireless-only, wireless-mostly, dual-use, landline-mostly, 
or landline-only. The direct estimates used in the models for 2019 and 2020 follow the person-level classification of telephone status. However, the direct 
estimates used in the models for 2018 follow the previous household-level classification of telephone status. 

Caution is warranted when interpreting telephone status estimates from 2020. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, NHIS data collection switched to a 
telephone-only mode beginning March 19, 2020. This change had little impact on Quarter 1 of 2020 (January–March), but there were lower response rates 
and differences in respondent characteristics for Quarters 2, 3, and 4 of 2020 (April–December). Telephone-only data collection led to an over-
representation of more affluent households, including a greater proportion of homeowners, among the participating sample in Quarter 2. Personal visits to 
households resumed in selected areas in July 2020 and in all areas of the country in September 2020. However, cases were still attempted by telephone 
first and a majority were completed by telephone.  

Survey weights were adjusted to account for changes in respondent characteristics due to overall changes in the 2020 data collection. However, phoneless 
households (i.e., those with neither wireless nor landline telephones) generally could not be interviewed in Quarter 2. Caution should be used in interpreting 
differences observed in estimates between 2020 and earlier time periods. 

Additionally, due to concerns about possible loss of coverage and lower response rates typically associated with telephone interviewing, approximately half 
of the original sample allocated for the last five months of 2020 was replaced with adults who completed the 2019 NHIS interview.  Estimates in this table do 
not include 2020 data from the reinterviewed sample. The overall sample size for 2020 is therefore smaller than for previous years. 

Small-area statistical modeling assumes that the design-based estimates of variance are stable and that the direct estimates are unbiased. Users are 
cautioned that the approach used to create the model-based estimates can produce substantially biased prevalence estimates and unstable variance 
estimates when the direct estimate from NHIS is based on small sample sizes, when that sample is drawn from only a few geographic areas, and when 
those few geographic areas are not representative of the state of interest. 

SOURCES:  NCHS, National Health Interview Survey, 2018–2020; and U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 2017–2019.  

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS:  Estimates were calculated by Nadarajasundaram Ganesh of NORC at the University of Chicago, in collaboration with Lin Liu of 
NORC and with staff of the National Center for Health Statistics, Division of Health Interview Statistics and Division of Research and Methodology. 

 

 

124

Item 5.

http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhsr/nhsr039.pdf
http://infoUSA.com


Infra Towers  
SITE SIGNAGE LAYOUT 

Signs to be hung with hog rings, aluminum fence wire ties or 14-gauge wire. NO ZIP TIES!

INFRA sign is to be hung on outside of fence.
INFRA SITE SIGNAGE LAYOUT 

There must be an 
Infra Towers sign with 
Site Name & Number 
and FCC Number (if 

applicable) at both the 
access road gate  

(gate off of the main 
road / ROW, if 

applicable) AND 
compound fence.

Warning Sign to be 
mounted at base of 
climbing ladder. 

Signs To Be Hung on Fence 
Gate

125

Item 5.



1 
 

Permitted Use in Spanish Valley Highway Commercial (HC) District 

for Telecommunications Tower at 4326 East Sunny Acres Lane, Spanish Valley 

_________________________________________________________   

San Juan County received an application for approval of a 125-foot telecommunications 

tower at 4326 East Sunny Acres Lane, Spanish Valley. The applicant is Tierney Rowe 

representing Infra Towers LLC1. The property at 4326 East Sunny Acres Lane is owned by 

Kolleeen Conger. 

 The proposed tower is in the Spanish Valley Highway Commercial (HC) District. 

Permitted Uses in the Highway Commercial (HC) District 

 The Spanish Valley Development Ordinances (adopted 19 November 2019) established 

the Highway Commercial (HC) District where the proposed tower is located. Chapter 6: Spanish 

Valley Highway Commercial (HC) District governs land uses in the HC District. Chapter 6 

includes a list of “typical permitted uses.” A telecommunications tower is not listed among the 

HC District typical permitted uses. However, Chapter 6 states: “The list is not exclusive. Any use 

not specifically listed but determined by the Planning Commission to be similar in purpose, 

intent or use shall be permitted.”  

 The Planning Commission, after consideration, may determine that the proposed 

telecommunications tower is a permitted use in the HC District. 

 Regarding “purpose” of listed and non-listed permitted uses, Chapter 6 states the 

following in a paragraph titled “Purpose”: “To provide a district where highway commercial uses 

along U.S. Highway 191 are permitted, as supported by the San Juan County Spanish Valley 

Area Plan (2018) and the San Juan County General Plan (2018).” 

 Of interest is an objective repeated in the 2018 San Juan County General Plan (which is 

referenced in Chapter 6 of the Spanish Valley Development Ordinances) – to increase broadband 

infrastructure in San Juan County. Included in the chapter titled “Economic Development” 

(pages 21 – 30) of the General Plan is the following. 

“The County’s economic strategy plan has been broken into five key areas of focus, with 

a vision and planned development of these area over one, five, and ten years. The five 

key areas of focus are: Broadband, Transportation, Business Expansion and Retention, 

Diversification, Celebration of Culture and History. 

One Year Vision 

BROADBAND – In partnership with the Seven County Infrastructure Coalition, the 

county has identified Broadband as one of the primary infrastructure goals. Year one 

                                                           
1 Infra Towers LLC was registered as a business with the Utah Department of Commerce on 26 July 2021. Its 

registered agent is Coagency Global Inc located at 2005 East 2700 South, Salt Lake City, Utah 84109. 

 

126

Item 5.



2 
 

includes the development of a county-wide Broadband plan that includes connectivity in 

the communities fanning the Utah Education Network projects to have Broadband in all 

the public schools. Planning also includes establishing right of way agreements and 

initiating collaboration during roadwork discussions. Healthcare, a primary industry of 

the County, is one example of the necessity of broadband expansion with the 

development of telemedicine programs. 

. . . 

Five Year Vision 

BROADBAND – A key infrastructure hurdle for business is the cost of Broadband in 

rural Utah. A key goal would be identifying a way to reduce cost of service and creating 

competitive prices compatible to the Wasatch Front. 

. . . 

Ten Year Vision 

BROADBAND – Broadband will allow for expansion of remote and telecommuting 

opportunities. Creation of redundancy allowing for reliability in the system.” 

 Chapter 6 of the Spanish Valley Development Ordinances lists twenty-six (26) “typical 

permitted uses” for the HC District. Among these uses are the following which may be “similar 

in purpose, intent, or use” to the proposed telecommunication tower. 

- General Retail/Services 

- Governmental facilities 

- Offices and related business activities 

Relevant to the above-listed permitted uses are the following definitions or meanings. 

“General services” include services provided independently by a person or company with 

specialized knowledge or skills. Representative of such knowledge and skills are the trades 

represented in the U.S. General Services Administration. This federal agency promotes the 

several industries or programs including Wireless Mobility Solutions. 

“Government facilities” may include not only those uses which are owned by a government 

entity – but which are regulated by the government for public use. These government-

regulated services are associated with government services and facilities. An example are 

telecommunication services which are regulated by the Federal Communications 

Commission (FCC). The FCC develops and executes policies and procedures for licensing of 

all wireless services and manages the tower registration process. 

127

Item 5.



3 
 

“Business activities” are those enterprises which are engaged in economic activity – or which 

directly support economic activity. Included among “business activities” is the 

telecommunications sector or industry2.  

Tower Project Summary 

The following summarizes the tower project proposed by Infra Towers LLC at 4326 East 

Sunny Acres Lane in Spanish Valley.  

The planned telecommunications tower will be developed, owned and operated by Infra 

Towers LLC, in cooperation with Verizon Wireless. The tower will be a 125-foot monopole with 

a 5-foot lightening rod. The constructed tower will comply with the International Building Code, 

National Electrical Code, and related building and engineering codes/standards. It will also be 

regulated by federal agency rules and requirements. Infra Towers LLC will also be subject to San 

Juan County building permit, fire code, and business licensing requirements. 

The tower will mitigate a gap in wireless service in the vicinity. 

The tower will enhance the following services in Spanish Valley and in San Juan County. 

o Enhanced remote work capability. Digital connectivity has been shown to 

increase productivity and innovation in companies and workers. 

 

o Improved connection to education platforms for students and teachers. 

 

o Accessibility to telehealth providers. Wireless services provide clinicians with 

access to continuous, real-time information and analysis. These services improve 

patient outcomes and reduces costs. 

 

o Accessibility to emergency responders. Fast and reliable connection with 911 

dispatchers reduces emergency response time and allows for better call location 

accuracy. 

 

Findings 

 The San Juan County Planning Commission makes the following findings relating to the 

proposed tower. 

1. The Infra Towers LLC telecommunications tower at 4326 East Sunny Acres Lane, 

Spanish Valley will benefit economic development, health care, emergency response 

services, remote work, and education in Spanish Valley and San Juan County. 

 

2. The proposed tower supports an important objective of the 2018 San Juan County 

General Plan by adding critical Broadband infrastructure in San Juan County. 

                                                           
2 See Deborah Gardner, Telecommunication Industry Handbook, 2016, Emereo Publishing. 

128

Item 5.



4 
 

 

3. The proposed tower is a permitted use in the Spanish Valley Highway Commercial (HC) 

District for the following reasons. 

 

a. The proposed tower meets the “purpose” of the HC District (which governing 

ordinance specifically refers to the 2018 San Juan County General Plan) by 

improving Broadband services and infrastructure in the County. 

 

b. The proposed tower is “similar in purpose, intent, or use” to the following listed 

permitted uses in the HC District: General services, Governmental facilities, and 

Business activities. 

 

i. Specifically, the proposed tower provides an important and independent 

general service to the San Juan County community. 

 

ii. Specifically, the proposed tower, as regulated and supported by the Federal 

Communications Commission, is associated with government services and 

facilities. 

 

iii. Specifically, Infra Towers LLC, with its planned tower, is part of the 

telecommunications industry and will be part of the San Juan County 

community of business activities. 

 

Conclusion and Decision 

 The San Juan County Planning Commission determines that a telecommunications tower 

proposed by Infra Towers LLC at 4326 East Sunny Acres Lane in Spanish Valley is a permitted 

use in the Highway Commercial (HC) District. 

 

_____________________________________   ___________________   

Trent Shafer        Date 

Chair, San Juan County Planning Commission 

 

 

 

129

Item 5.



Permit # Permit Date Residential 
or 

Commercial

Building 
Address

Building 
CityStateZip

Applicant 
Name

Description

23151 10/31/2023 Residential 78 E Markle 
Rd

La Sal 84530 
UT

Vannessa 
Lanham

New Power to 
meter

23150 10/30/2023 Residential 95 South 
Wray Mesa 
Rd

La Sal, UT 
84530

Dominic 
Bauer

Meter Base 
inspection

23149 10/26/2023 17 Green 
Haven Road

La Sal Utah 
84530

Lloyd Wilson Residential

23148 10/25/2023 Residential 1000 ft south 
of Harris 
Lane on 1900 
East

Blanding, UT 
84511

Kumen Jones Shop/House

23147 10/23/2023 Residential 125 E Pioneer 
Bend

Monticello, 
UT 84535

Zanna 
Osokina

Manufactured 
home with 
addition

23146 10/18/2023 Commercial Michael Nappi
23145 10/15/2023 11850 S HWY 

191 Ste A-8
Moab, UT 
84532

Climb Moab 
LLC

Climbing gym

23144 10/11/2023 311 west 
Boulder rd

Monticello 
Utah. 84535

Carl &Sharon 
Taylor

Primary 
residence

23142 10/10/2023 Residential 245 E Black 
Locust Ave

Bluff, UT, 
84512

Kate 
Aitchison

shade 
structure for 
parking

23141 10/6/2023 Residential 16 Tangren 
Circle / Lot 
1C Moab 
Utah 84532

Moab Utah 
84532

Lloyd Wilson Residential

23140 10/5/2023 Residential 34S24E01720
0

Monticello,Ut,
84535

Luke Lessner machinery 
storage/agric
ultural no 
Utilities

23139 10/2/2023 Residential 513 E Blue 
Mountain 
Ridge

Monticello, 
UT, 84535

Shilo B 
Davies

Primary 
dwelling

23138 10/2/2023 Residential 236 W Rio 
Grande

Moab Utah 
84532

Jonathan 
Dutrow

residential

23137 10/2/2023 Residential blue 
mountain 
LDS church 
camp

Blanding UT 
84511

michael Lee shade 
structure

Permit Report
10/01/2023 - 11/01/2023

Page: 1 of 2
130

Item 6.



Permit # Permit Date Residential 
or 

Commercial

Building 
Address

Building 
CityStateZip

Applicant 
Name

Description

23136 10/2/2023 Residential 220 East 
Black Locust

Bluff, UT 
84512

Stewart 
Aitchison and 
Ann Kramer

Total Records: 15 11/1/2023

Page: 2 of 2
131

Item 6.


	Top
	Item 2.	2023 Conditional Use for 78 East Markle Road Zachary Feasby
	Staff Report for Temporary Conditional Use on 78 East Markle in La Sal
	1756_001
	78 East Markle Map

	Item 3.	2023 Conditional Use Permit for Wild Sage Resort Timothy Lanford 151 Hwy 46 La Sal
	November 2023 Wild Sage Resort
	Timothy Lankford Conditional Use

	Item 4.	2023 R22 East Radio Road Communications Tower Conditional Use
	Radio Hill Verizon Wireless Tower Conditional Use Staff Report
	East Hill Road Tower CUP 
	UT6 Bulldog - Conditional Use Permit Application (1)
	UT6 Bulldog - CUP Question Responses

	Item 5.	2023 4326 East Sunny Acres Lane Conditional Use for Tower Development
	4326 East Sunny Acres Lane Tower Conditional Use Staff Report
	UT109 Spanish Valley CUP Application (Infra Towers, LLC) (1)
	UT109.CUP Supplement Letter.110223
	Sunny Acres Tower Permitted Use

	Item 6.	2023 October Building Permits
	u56599 (10)

	Bottom

